Medical University of South Carolina

MEDICA

MUSC Theses and Dissertations

2020

The Interleukin-12 Family of Cytokines and Receptor Signaling in Graft-versus-Host Disease

David Bastian Medical University of South Carolina

Follow this and additional works at: https://medica-musc.researchcommons.org/theses

Recommended Citation

Bastian, David, "The Interleukin-12 Family of Cytokines and Receptor Signaling in Graft-versus-Host Disease" (2020). *MUSC Theses and Dissertations*. 55. https://medica-musc.researchcommons.org/theses/55

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by MEDICA. It has been accepted for inclusion in MUSC Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of MEDICA. For more information, please contact medica@musc.edu.

The Interleukin-12 Family of Cytokines and Receptor Signaling in Graft-versus-

Host Disease

by David Bastian

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the Medical University of South Carolina

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

the College of Graduate Studies.

Department of Microbiology and Immunology

2020

Approved by:

Chairman, Advisory Committee Xue-Zhong Yu

Carl Atkinson

Eric Bartee

Shikhar Mehrotra

Chrystal Paulos

Mark Rubinstein

Copyright Notice

This dissertation was written in accordance with all copyright regulations:

https://www.frontiersin.org/legal/copyright-statement

https://www.nationalacademies.org/legal

https://www.elsevier.com/about/policies/copyright

Table of Contents

List of Figures	iii
Abstract	v
Chapter I: Introduction	
I.1. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation	1
I.2. Acute Graft-versus-Host Disease	4
I.3. Chronic Graft-versus-Host Disease	5
I.4. The IL-12 Family of Cytokines and Receptors	6
I.4.a. Interleukin-12/ Interleukin-12 Receptor	8
I.4.b. Interleukin-23/ Interleukin-23 Receptor	. 10
I.4.c. Interleukin-39/ Interleukin-39 Receptor	. 13
Chapter II: Essential role of IL-12/23p40 in GVHD	
II.1 Abstract	. 15
II.2 Introduction	. 16
II.3 Materials and Methods	. 18
II.3.a. Mice	. 18
II.3.b. Cell staining and flow cytometry	. 16
II.3.c. In vitro generation of Th1 and Th17	. 19
II.3.d. GVHD models	. 19
II.3.e. GVL models and bioluminescent imaging	. 20
II.3.f. Antibody treatment in vivo	. 21
II.3.g. Statistics	. 21
II.4 Results	. 22
II.4.a. Donor- and host-derived p40 contribute to aGVHD severity	. 22
II.4.b. Anti-p40 mAb inhibits the activity of IL-12 and IL-23 ir cell polarization <i>in vitro</i>	ו T- . 25
II.4.c. Neutralizing p40 alleviates aGVHD	. 27
II.4.d. Neutralizing p40 maintained T-cell-mediated GVL	

activity after allo-BMT	29
II.4.e. Neutralizing p40 alleviates cGVHD	33
II.5 Discussion	35

Chapter II	II: IL-23R signaling can bypass IL-12R β 1 through IL-39	
III.1	Abstract	41
III.2	? Introduction	43
III.3	3 Materials and Methods	45
	III.3.a. Mice	45
	III.3.b. Murine GVHD models	46
	III.3.c. Transfected cell lines	46
	III.3.d. Flow cytometry	46
	III.3.e. ELISA	47
	III.3.f. Immunoblots/ Immunoprecipitation	48
	III.3.g. Statistics	48
111.4	Results	49
	III.4.a. IL-12Rβ1 and IL-23R are required for cGVHD development	49
	III.4.b. IL-12Rβ1 and IL-23R differentially impact cGVH development	D 53
	III.4.c. IL-23R signaling can mediate aGVHD in the abs IL-12Rβ1	ence of 57
	III.4.d. IL-23R and IL-12Rβ1 are functionally different o T cells during aGVHD	n donor 59
	III.4.e. p19 and EBI3 heterodimers are detectable in aGVHD	60
III.5	5 Discussion	63

Chapter IV: Targeting JAK2 reduces GVHD and xenograft rejection through regulation of T cell differentiation

IV.1. Abstract	67
IV.2 Introduction	68
IV.3 Materials and Methods	70
IV.3.a. Mice	70
IV.3.b. Murine GVHD and bioluminescent imaging	70
IV.3.c. Xenograft model	71
IV.3.d. Statistics	72
4.4 Results	72
IV.4.a. JAK2 signaling promotes Th1 differentiation, but	

inhibits Th2- and Treg-responses by allo-activation in vitro
IV.4.b. JAK2 inhibits Th2 and Treg polarization in vivo
IV.4.c. JAK2 contributes to the migratory capacity of donor T cells
IV.4.d. Pharmacologic inhibition of JAK2 with pacritinib reduces GVHD and spares GVL79
IV.4.e. Pacritinib polarizes a Th2 response among DC- allostimulated, human T cells
IV.4.f. Pacritinib permits the differentiation of suppressive human induced Treg82
IV.4.g. Pacritinib reduces xenograft rejection but maintains CD8+ CTL activity against tumor
IV.5 Discussion
Chapter V: Conclusions and Future Directions
Chapter VI: Literature Cited 101

List of Figures

- Figure I.1. The IL-12 family: cytokines, receptors, JAK-STAT signaling, influence on CD4+ T cell differentiation and subsequent effect on GVHD severity after allo-HCT
- 2. Table I.1. Expression levels of IL-12 family cytokines in aGVHD patients.
- 3. Figure II.1. Role of donor-derived p40 in aGVHD
- 4. Figure II.2. Role of host-derived p40 in aGVHD
- 5. Figure II.3. Effect of anti-p40 mAb on T-cell polarization in vitro
- 6. Figure II.4. Effect of neutralizing p40 on aGVHD development
- Figure II.5. Effect of neutralizing p40 on donor T-cell differentiation and migration
- Figure II.6. Role of neutralizing p40 on the GVL activity in MHCmismatched BMT
- Figure II.7. Role of neutralizing p40 on the GVL activity after MHC-matched and MiHA- mismatched BMT
- 10. Figure II.8. Effect of neutralizing p40 on cGVHD
- 11. Figure III.1. IL-23R α and IL-12R β 1 contribute to cGVHD.
- 12. Figure III.2. Similar effect of IL-23R α and IL-12R β 1 in cGVHD.
- 13. Figure III.3. IL-23R α and IL-12R β 1 inhibit thymus reconstitution.
- 14. Figure III.4. IL-23R α and IL-12R β 1 promote Tfh/B cell responses.

- 15. Figure III.5. Effect of IL-12R β 1 and IL-23R α in aGVHD.
- 16. Figure III.6: IL-23Rα regulates GM-CSF production in aGVHD.
- 17. Figure III.7: p19 and EBI3 form heterodimers that are detectable in aGVHD.
- 18. Figure II.8 : Summary Figure
- 19. Figure IV.1. JAK2 contributes to T cell-mediated GVHD, but is dispensable for GVL.
- 20. Figure IV.2. Donor T cells deficient for JAK2 are prone to Th2 and Treg polarization in vivo.
- 21. Figure IV.3. JAK2 contributes to the migratory capacity of donor T cells.
- 22. Figure IV.4. Pharmacological inhibition of JAK2 with pacritinib reduces GVHD and spares GVL.
- 23. Figure IV.5. Pacritinib polarizes a Th2 response by human T cells after allogeneic stimulation in vitro and permits the differentiation of suppressive iTreg.
- 24. Figure IV.6. Pacritinib reduces xenograft rejection.

Abstract

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HCT) is an effective means by which to treat a wide variety of diseases resulting from dysfunctional hematopoiesis due to a potent anti-tumor response known as the graft-versustumor (GVT) effect after chemotherapy and/or irradiation. The necessity of donor T cells to mediate GVT is offset by the consequential development of graftversus-host disease (GVHD); a leading cause of mortality among allo- HCT recipients. The IL-12 family of cytokines signals through Janus Kinase 2 (JAK2) and is comprised of IL-12, IL-23, IL-27, IL-35 and IL-39. IL-12 (p35+p40) and IL-23 (p19+p40) have well documented proinflammatory functions responsible for Th1 differentiation and Th17 stabilization, respectively, and play critical roles in GVHD development. As such, we found that targeting p40 resulted in reduced GVHD. IL-12R and IL-23R also share a β -chain, IL-12R β 1. While IL-23R is widely implicated in autoimmunity and GVHD, the role of IL-12R β 1 remains much less defined. We found that donor splenocytes deficient for IL-12Rβ1 or IL-23R had an impaired ability to induce chronic GVHD (cGVHD). We also found a pathogenic role for IL-23R on donor T cells in acute GVHD (aGVHD); strikingly, a similar effect was not seen for IL-12Rβ1. Our studies then focused on determining how pharmacologically targeting IL-12/23p40 can be efficacious in reducing GVHD severity in experimental and clinical settings, yet also to explain why IL-12R β 1 may be dispensable in aGVHD. The newest member of the IL-12 family, IL-39, is composed of IL-23p19 and EBI3. Given the cognate receptor for IL-39 includes IL-23R and gp130, we hypothesized that IL-39 may play a role in

aGVHD. We detected significantly higher IL-39 in serum of mice with aGVHD compared to recipients of bone marrow alone (BMA) and cGVHD, providing a potential explanation for how IL-23R signaling could bypass IL-12β1. We also evaluated how JAK2 impacted GVHD. We found that T cell deficiency of JAK2 or neutralization via pacritinib significantly reduced mortality from GVHD. In summary, targeting IL-12 family signaling is an effective strategy to reduce GVHD. Further, future studies should focus on whether targeting IL-23/IL-39p19 is as effective as targeting IL-12/IL-23p40 in the clinic due to IL-39.

I. INTRODUCTION

I.1. Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation

The use of the atomic bomb in World War II not only revolutionized warfare but also the methods to treat bone marrow aplasia caused by radiation damage. In 1950, it was found that syngeneic bone marrow transplantation (BMT) could effectively compensate for bone marrow dysfunction resulting from irradiation using murine models¹. By 1956, this concept of replacing dysfunctional bone marrow was applied to murine models of leukemia and consequential aplasia following irradiation. This study involved two groups of mice: one that received a syngeneic (genetically identical) BMT and the other that received an allogeneic (genetically disparate) BMT. While aplasia was effectively treated in both groups, all mice that received a syngeneic transplant succumbed to leukemia relapse. However, the group of mice that received an allogeneic BMT (allo-BMT) did not experience any sign of disease relapse, but instead died from a "wasting disease", which would later manifest into what is currently known as Graft-versus-Host disease (GVHD)². The aforementioned experiments led to two major discoveries which catalyzed the birth of immunology: the identification and typing of human leukocyte antigens (HLA), as well as the ability of a genetically mismatched immune system to eradicate tumor cells^{3–5}. In 1990, the Nobel Prize was awarded to E. Donnall Thomas for his unrelenting pursuit and discoveries regarding allo-BMT as a therapy for cancer.

Today, allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (allo-HCT) is performed with curative intent for high-risk blood cancers and bone marrow failure syndromes. The efficacy of allo-HCT lies in the ability of the donor graft to mediate a potent anti-tumor response in transplant recipients, known as the graft-versus-tumor (GVT) effect, coupled with the benefit derived from pre-transplant conditioning^{6,7}. This GVT effect is primarily derived from donor T cells but can also be attributed to natural killer (NK) cells and B cells⁸. However, B cell responses against tumors are largely driven by T-B cell interactions, and B cell reconstitution is delayed after allo-HCT⁹. With regards to NK cells, generation occurs early after transplant, and have been demonstrated to possess GVT capability^{10,11}. While this treatment holds much promise, poor functionality in haplo-identical recipients early after transplant as well as graft failure due to large number of stem cells that must be infused, especially in the case of T cell depleted (TCD) transplants, remain obstacles for clinical success¹².

The success of allo-HCT is compromised by the development of GVHD, a complication mediated by mature donor T cells present in the graft that respond against normal host tissue. GVHD can occur in 2 phases: acute GVHD (aGVHD) and chronic GVHD (cGVHD), both of which are significant causes of morbidity and mortality after allo-HCT. The incidence of acute GVHD (aGVHD) has been significantly reduced over the past decade. Transplant-related mortality has declined with the implementation of reduced intensity conditioning (RIC) regimens, new GVHD prophylaxis strategies, and the development of molecular methods aiding in early detection of viral and fungal infections in concert with modern anti-

infectious agents^{13–15}. However, aGVHD still affects 20% to 70% of allo-HCT patients¹⁶. Current clinical regimens for GVHD patients are primarily based on nonspecific immunosuppressants for prophylaxis and treatment, such as calcineurin inhibitors or glucocorticosteroids, respectively¹⁷. These broadly-acting agents fail to induce immune tolerance, increase susceptibility to opportunistic infections, and compromise GVT activity¹⁸. Research in the field is focused on reducing GVHD without compromising the GVT effect. The current consensus on the initiation of GVHD pathophysiology can be divided into three primary phases:

1) *Host tissue injury caused by conditioning regimens* leads to the release of proinflammatory cytokines. Tissue damage from pre- transplant conditioning regimens results in a prolonged (up to 12 weeks post allo-HCT) increase of various cytokines; these include interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β), interleukin 6 (IL-6), interleukin 8 (IL-8), interleukin 10 (IL-10), interleukin 12 (IL-12), interleukin 21 (IL-21), interleukin 23 (IL-23), transforming growth factor β (TGF β) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α)^{19–21}. These cytokines are primarily produced by activated dendritic cells (DCs) in response to tissue damage and microbe exposure, in concert with release of damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), including high mobility group protein B1 (HMGB-1) and adenosine triphosphate (ATP), as well as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which include lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and peptidoglycan. Both DAMPs and PAMPs can activate APCs, such as DCs and macrophages.

2) *Donor T cell activation* by activated APCs leads to differentiation into effector T cells, such as T helper type 1 (Th1) and T helper type 17 (Th17), both of which are pathogenic and associated with GVHD severity and mortality²².

3) Effector T cell migration and target tissue destruction by activated donor T cells results in the initiation of GVHD^{22,23}.

A myriad of cytokines, chemokines, receptors, and transcription factors are associated with T cell activation and associated inflammation, hence playing a central role in the development of GVHD. Classically, Th1 cells are believed to play a critical role in the induction of GVHD; although our group and others have demonstrated that Th17 cells also contribute¹⁵. By targeting Th1 and Th17 specific transcription factors, T-box transcription factor TBX21 (T-bet) and Retinoic acidrelated orphan receptor gamma (RORγt), respectively, it was observed that both Th1 and Th17 subsets contribute to GVHD development; yet either lineage alone is sufficient to induce GVHD^{25,26}. Thus, both lineages must to be blocked in order to control GVHD. Efficacy of targeting these T cell differentiation pathways at the cytokine level are under investigation in clinical trials. Strategies for protecting/promoting prompt repair of target tissues may also reduce GVHD severity.

I.2. Acute GVHD (aGVHD)

Acute GVHD is manifested by a strong inflammatory component resulting from robust donor T cell activation and expansion. Prior to transplant, conditioning regimens involving chemotherapy and/or irradiation cause damage to host epithelial tissues and subsequent release of danger signals such as chemokines and cytokines. The inflammatory milieu is then amplified by an activated innate immune response, consisting of APCs, natural killer cells (NK cells), neutrophils, and macrophages²³. Donor CD4 and CD8 T cell recognition of major or minor histocompatibility antigens, directly or indirectly, by host and donor APCs in conjunction with activation of the innate immune response creates a "cytokine storm" consisting of such components as interferon gamma (IFN γ), TNF α , IL-6, IL-12 and IL-23, among others^{18,27}. The aforementioned combination of inflammatory factors culminates in T cell infiltration and subsequent destruction of host tissues, namely the skin, lung, liver and gastrointestinal tract (GI tract)^{27–30}.

I.3. Chronic GVHD (cGVHD)

Chronic GVHD is widely systemic and can affect essentially any of the major organ systems^{18,31}. While largely undefined, the origin of cGVHD pathogenesis has been linked to thymic damage caused by conditioning, resulting in aberrant selection and subsequent release of allo/autoreactive T cells³². Older patients receiving RIC have also been observed with cGVHD, which is potentially due to reduced thymic reserve/ function^{33,34}. The activation of these T cells results in cytokine production and consequential activation of macrophages and fibroblasts. Chronically stimulated donor T cells interact with bone marrow-derived B cells and produce

additional factors contributing to fibroblast proliferation and activation^{32,35}. In particular, T follicular helper (Tfh) cells interact with B cells via CD40L-CD40 to promote B cell proliferation, differentiation, and antibody isotype switching³⁶. These Tfh-B cell interactions subsequently lead to germinal center formation in which antibody diversification and affinity maturation occur, ultimately leading to an adaptive immune response^{32,35,36}. The resultant autoantibody production and tissue fibrosis lead to end organ damage³⁷.

I.4. The IL-12 Family of Cytokines and Receptors

The IL-12 family of cytokines can direct the donor immune response to execute a range of proinflammatory and immunosuppressive functions that are relevant in GVHD (Fig. 1). They are primarily secreted by cells of myeloid origin in response to inflammatory stimuli, such as microbial products or fungal infections³⁸. While part of the type 1 hematopoietin family of cytokines, IL-12 family members are unique in that each member is comprised of two different subunits, or heterodimers, in which either the α or β subunit is shared among the others³⁹. The α -subunits include p19 (IL-23/IL-39), IL-27p28 (IL-27), and p35 (IL12/IL-35). The β - subunits include p40 (IL-12/IL-23) and Epstein-Barr virus-induced gene 3 (EBI3) (IL-27/IL-35/IL-39)⁴⁰. Further, each cytokine signals through a distinct heterodimeric receptor that is associated with its cognate subunits: IL-12R (IL-12R β 2/IL-12R β 1), IL-23R (IL-23R α /IL-12R β 1), IL-27R (IL-27R α /gp130), IL-39R (IL-23R α /gp130), and IL-35R (IL-12R β 2/gp130)^{39,40}. The functionality of each respective cytokine and receptor combination ranges from proinflammatory to

immune suppressive in a host of pathological and physiological conditions. Yet, similar subunits and receptors involved in proinflammatory functions can also form suppressive complexes, as in the case of IL-12R β 2, involved in IL-12 and IL-35 signaling. Therefore, deciphering the contributions of each cytokine/ receptor subunit combination is critical to understanding the immune response as a whole; the context of allo-HCT is no exception.



Figure 1. The IL-12 family: cytokines, receptors, JAK-STAT signaling, influence on CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and subsequent effect on GVHD severity after allo-HCT ('+' and '-' denote increase or decrease in GVHD severity, respectively. Listed from top to bottom) IL-12 is a heterodimer composed of p35 and p40⁴¹. Upon ligation, IL-12 signals through IL-12R β 1 and IL-12R β 2, which form the receptor complex for IL-12 (IL-12R), subsequently leading to JAK2-STAT4 signal transduction and a positive feedback loop for Th1 differentiation⁴²⁻⁴⁵. While its role in Th1 differentiation and IFN γ production has been shown to drive GVHD, there are conflicting reports

concerning the specific requirement of IL-12^{46,47}; p35 can also associate with EBI3 to form IL-35, and p40 is the shared subunit with IL-23 (+). <u>IL-23</u> is a heterodimer composed of p19 and p40⁴⁸. IL-23R α associates with JAK2 to induce primarily STAT3 phosphorylation but also STAT4 to a lesser degree^{26,49–51}. IL-23 signaling results in stabilization cues for Th17 cells and has also been implicated exacerbation of intestinal GVHD (++)^{52–56}. <u>IL-27</u>, composed of p28 and EBI3, ligation to IL-27R α / gp130 promotes IL-10 production by Tr1 cells via STAT1 at early time points post-BMT and plays a role in hindering GVHD- induced inflammation⁵⁷. However, IL-27 also inhibits Treg generation and may promote Th1 differentiation and function (+/-)^{58,59}. <u>IL-35</u> is composed of p35 and EBI3. IL-35 can signal through any combination of IL-12R β 2 and gp130 was recently described as a potent immunoregulatory cytokine secreted by both T and B regulatory cells^{39,60,61}. IL-35 has been reported to suppress GVHD development. <u>IL-39</u> is the most recent addition to the family and is composed of p19 and EBI3, which signal through STAT3 and STAT1. There are no reports of its function in the context of allo-HCT.

*reported to promote GVHD through increased Th1 and decreased Treg differentiation; yet also dampen GVHD severity via Tr1 during induction phase

I.4.a. IL-12/IL-12R

IL-12 consists of p35 and p40, and acts primarily on NK cells and T cells^{33,41}. IL-

12R β 1 binds to IL-12R β 2 to form the receptor for IL-12 (IL-12R)^{41,62}. Upon

ligation, IL-12R β 1 binds to Tyrosine kinase 2 (Tyk2) while IL-12R β 2 binds to

Janus Kinase 2 (JAK2). Tyk2 and JAK2 then phosphorylate tyrosine residues

primarily on signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4).

Ultimately, the STAT4 complex trans locates to the nucleus and binds to the IFNy

promoter; Jun oncogene (c-Jun) is also recruited to the IFNγ promoter via

STAT4^{42,43,63}, potentiating IFNγ transcription and Th1 differentiation. In a STAT4 -

dependent manner, IL-12 also promotes expression of Interferon regulatory

factor 1 (IRF1) and 4 (IRF4), transcription factors required for Th1 differentiation

^{64,65}. Notwithstanding the contribution of IL-12 to Th1 differentiation, IL-12/IL-12R

also promotes T-cell proliferation and adhesion during activation. It has been

reported that IL-12 contributes to expression of Interleukin 2 receptor α (IL-2R α)

by recruiting STAT4 and c-Jun to the promoter of IL-2R, thereby enhancing T cell

proliferation^{66,67}. IL-12 -induced STAT4 activation also culminates in P-selectin

ligand formation, which augments T cell adhesion during differentiation^{68–71}. Furthermore, activation of IL-12/IL-12R signaling induces both positive and negative feedback queues which can either strengthen or reduce IL-12 signaling, respectively. For instance, STAT4 activation fosters transcription of IL-12R^β2 and Interleukin 18 receptor 1 (IL-18R1), which cooperate to amplify IL-12 signaling and Th1 cell differentiation. While IL-12R signaling can promote proliferation via STAT5-JAK2 interactions, evidence exists that STAT5A can suppress IL-12 induced Th1 cell differentiation through the induction of Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3)⁵⁰. However, this report demonstrated that SOCS3 activity inhibits IL-12 signaling by binding to the STAT4 docking site of the IL-12R β 2 subunit^{72,73}. Hence, IL-12 is predominately associated with Th1 differentiation, yet may simultaneously hinder this effect through mobilization of STAT5A depending on the context of disease or environment. IL-12 promotes the differentiation of primed CD4⁺ T cells into Th1 cells, which express *Tbet*, produce IFNy, and play a critical role in driving GVHD^{25,62}. On the other hand, IL-12 negatively regulates T helper type 2 (Th2) transcription factors and associated cytokine production⁷⁴. As such, IL-12R β 2 expression is absent on Th2 cells but upregulated in Th1; an increase in Th2 differentiation is associated with reduced acute GVHD yet can exacerbate chronic GVHD^{75,76}. In addition, CD40-CD40L interactions between T cells and APCs can fuel IL-12 production by APCs, which amplify innate immune cell responses through IFN γ production⁷⁷. With regards to the IL-12 cytokine itself, the pool of available data is somewhat contradictory in the context of aGVHD. IL-12 has been reported to drive GVHD due to its

stimulatory effect on Th1 cells^{78,79}. IL-12 serum levels in aGVHD patients are increased compared to healthy controls, yet no correlation between higher grade GVHD (II-IV) and IL-12 has been observed⁸⁰ (Table 1). Conversely, exogenous IL-12 administration was suggested to be protective in GVHD via an IFNydependent mechanism⁸¹. Previous studies observed that a single injection of IL-12 at the time of allo-HCT stifles GVHD in myeloablative-conditioned recipients^{46,47,81}. The protective or pathogenic role of IL-12 seemingly relies on the dose and timing IL-12 injection, and irradiation type for the recipient conditioning regimen in murine BMT models⁸². In NK cells, IL-12 induces cytotoxic events through STAT4 and subsequent activation of the Perforin 1 (perforin) gene promoter⁸³. A recent report a describes IL-12/IL-18 activated donor NK cells mitigate GVHD but enhance GVT activity⁸⁴. Apart from advocating Th1 responses, IL-12 plays a critical role in T follicular helper cell (Tfh) differentiation and function through STAT4 and Tbet^{85,86}. Consistent with the crucial role of Tfh cells in cGVHD pathogenesis, administration of anti-p40 mAb in recipient mice significantly reduced Tfh generation and scleroderma manifestations of cGVHD after allo-HCT⁵⁷. Thus, targeting one or more of the IL-12 cytokine/receptor subunits represents a promising therapeutic strategy to reduce cGVHD.

I.4.b. IL-23/IL-23R

IL-23 consists of p19 and p40. The IL-23R is a heterodimer comprised of IL-12R β 1 and IL-23R α . IL-23R associates with JAK2 and, in a ligand-dependent manner,

with STAT3. IL-23- induced activation of STAT3 leads to direct binding of phosphorylated STAT3 to IL-17A and IL-17F promoters. STAT3 up-regulates the expression of RORyt, the master transcription factor of Th17, which is critical for the expression of two members of the Interleukin-17 family, IL-17A and IL-17F⁸⁷⁻ ⁸⁹. SOCS3 inhibits JAK2 activity, hence decreasing IL-17A and IL-17F expression⁸⁷. Hence, IL-23 signaling regulates Th17 cells. IL-23 plays an important role in expanding and maintaining the Th17 cell population, a T cell subset involved in homeostatic antimicrobial immune responses as well as in the propagation of many autoimmune diseases⁹⁰. IL-23 is an indispensable factor for promoting pathogenicity of Th17 cells, yet is not required for initial differentiation⁹¹⁻ ⁹⁴. IL-23 has been shown to control Th17 responses through regulating T cell metabolism. TCR stimulation induces GLUT-1 surface expression and subsequent lactate production, promoting glucose uptake^{95,96}. T cells under Th17 polarizing conditions undergo a HIF1- α - dependent metabolic switch to glycolysis, and data indicates that IL-23 might contribute to this effect via PKM2 and HIF1- α^{97} . Notably, allogeneic T cells were shown to depend on glycolysis for effector function during GVHD development, yet a connection to IL-23 and glycolysis has not been demonstrated. HIF1- α induction has also been associated with IL-23 production in dendritic cells; this link between HIF1- α and PKM2 has been previously established in cancer cells^{98–100}. Therefore, PKM2 may possess more than one function in addition to its role in glycolysis manifested by transcriptional activation as a protein kinase¹⁰¹. Taken together, IL-23 signaling through PKM2/STAT3 may directly contribute to the metabolism of Th17 cells and, in concert with IL-6, could

represent an essential factor for lineage commitment¹⁰². Glucocorticoid-induced protein kinase 1 (SGK1) is critical for IL-23R expression through deactivating murine Foxo1, which directly represses IL-23R expression¹⁰³. SGK1 is essential for the induction of pathogenic Th17 cells and implicates environmental factors, such as a high-salt diet, as triggers to Th17 development and subsequent tissue inflammation¹⁰⁴. Lastly, while Blimp-1 IL-23-dependent Blimp-1 enhances Th17 pathogenic factors such as GM-CSF and IFNy, and co-localizes with RORyt and STAT-3 at II23r, II17a, and Csf2 enhancer sites¹⁰⁵. Studies show IL-23 signaling contributes to the pathogenesis of various autoimmune diseases. In mice, it was demonstrated that bacteria-driven innate colitis is associated with an increased production of IL-17A and IFNy in the colon. Stimulation of intestinal leukocytes with IL-23 induced the production of IL-17 and IFNy exclusively by innate lymphoid cells expressing IL-23R, which were demonstrated to accumulate in the inflamed colon. These results identified a previously unrecognized IL-23-responsive innate lymphoid population that mediates intestinal immune pathology and may therefore represent a target in inflammatory bowel disease^{106–108}. Intestinal IL-23-responsive innate cells are also a feature of T cell-dependent models of colitis, which resembles many of the features seen in intestinal GVHD with respect to T cell infiltration resulting in inflammation and gut injury. The transcription factor RORyt controls IL-23R expression, as it was shown that Rag/Rorc-null mice failed to develop innate colitis which is dependent on IL-23¹⁰⁶. In addition, expression of IL-23 and IL-23R was increased in the tissues of patients with psoriasis¹⁰⁹. Injection

of a neutralizing monoclonal antibody to IL-23p19 in a xenotransplant mouse model showed IL-23-dependent inhibition of psoriasis¹⁰⁹.

I.4.c. IL-39/IL-39R

IL-39 has been proposed to consist of p19 and EBI3, and is the most recent addition to the family¹¹⁰. Wang et al. published the first report describing the function of an additional heterodimer that involves p19 complexed with a subunit other than p40. IL-39 is secreted by activated B cells and was demonstrated to be significantly elevated in lupus models compared to other IL-12 members using MRL/lpr mice¹¹⁰. The receptor for IL-39 was determined to be formed by dimerization of IL-23R and gp130 and signal through STAT1 and 3. While associated with neutrophil differentiation and expansion, the proinflammatory effects of IL-39 have yet to be fully defined. In a different report by Ramnath et al, IL-39 was shown to be secreted by keratinocytes and contribute to wound healing¹¹¹. While the function of IL-39 may be context dependent, these disparate reports indicate that IL-39 may also act on a broad range of cell types. Hence, further clarification regarding the general role of IL-39 in immunity is required in order to determine its effect in GVHD.

aGVHD Grade

	0-1	2-4	References
IL-12	1	1	53
IL-23	1	11	88
IL-27	Ļ	Ļ	123
IL-35	Ļ	tt.	126

Table 1: Expression levels of IL-12 family cytokines in aGVHD patients. Representative table of IL-12, IL-23, IL-27 and IL-35 levels detected in the serum of patients with aGVHD. Upward arrows indicate increases compared to healthy donors, while downward arrows indicate decreases.

II. Targeting p40 to reduce acute and chronic GVHD

II.1. Abstract

Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), in both its acute (aGVHD) and chronic (cGVHD) forms, remains a major obstacle impeding successful allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT). T cells, in particular pathogenic Th1 and Th17 subsets, are a driving force for the induction of GVHD. IL-12 and IL-23 cytokines share a common p40 subunit and play a critical role in driving Th1 differentiation and in stabilizing the Th17 phenotype, respectively. In our current study, we hypothesized that p40 is an essential cytokine in the development of GVHD. By using p40-deficient mice, we found that both donorand host-derived p40 contribute to the development of aGVHD. Neutralization of p40 with an anti-p40 mAb inhibited Th1- and Th17- polarization in vitro. Furthermore, anti-p40 treatment reduced aGVHD severity while preserving the graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) activity. Alleviation of aGVHD was associated with an increase of Th2-differentiation and a decrease of Th1 and Th17 effector T cells in the GVHD target organs. In addition, anti-p40 treatment attenuated the severity of sclerodermatous cGVHD. These results provide a strong rationale that blockade of p40 may represent a promising therapeutic strategy in the prevention and treatment of acute and chronic GVHD while sparing GVL effect following allo-HSCT.

II.2. Introduction

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) is the only curative option for many hematopoietic neoplastic diseases. However, its efficacy is limited by the occurrence of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), which remains the major cause of morbidity and mortality in the recipients of allo-HSCT^{112,113}. Generally, GVHD attributes its detrimental effects to an immunological attack on recipient parenchymal organs by donor pathogenic cells transplanted in the graft¹¹⁴. According to distinct pathophysiology and clinical manifestations, GVHD can be divided into two forms: acute GVHD (aGVHD) and chronic GVHD (cGVHD)¹¹². Donor T cell-mediated injuries in the liver, skin and gut are the main characteristics of aGVHD^{113,114}. cGVHD manifests itself with more extensive organ involvement and many autoimmune and fibrotic features caused by alloreactive T and B cells¹¹⁵. In the clinic, many patients have an overlap syndrome in which features of aGVHD and cGVHD appear together^{115,116}. Thus, finding shared therapeutic targets of aGVHD and cGVHD could be a highly efficient method to control GVHD and increase the overall success of allo-HSCT.

T-helper (Th), CD4 cells can differentiate into several distinct subsets, such as: Th1, Th2, Th17, and T regulatory cells (Tregs), depending on the signals encountered. Among these, Th1 and Th17 are the major pathogenic subsets that induce aGVHD and cGVHD^{74,117–119}. Paradoxically, exacerbated aGVHD was observed in mice receiving IFNγ-/- or IL-17A-/- T cells^{120,121}. This phenomenon occurs because IFNγ-/- T cells produce more IL-17A, whereas IL-17A-/- T cells

produce more IFNγ. These results indicate that Th1 and Th17 lineages are mutually inhibitory, and that each alone is sufficient to induce GVHD. Furthermore, our recent work clearly demonstrates that it is necessary to block both Th1 and Th17 lineages in order to control the development of aGVHD²⁵.

Cytokines produced by antigen presenting cells (APCs) are critical factors in T-cell activation and differentiation, among which IL-12 and IL-23 play important roles in driving Th1 development and stabilizing the Th17 phenotype, respectively³⁹. IL-12 and IL-23 belong to the IL-12 family of cytokines and function as master regulators for innate and adaptive immunity¹²². Both IL-12 and IL-23 are heterodimeric cytokines, which have a shared p40 subunit, paired with either an α chain p35 or p19, respectively³⁹. Ustekinumab is an anti-p40 mAb specific for amino acids 1–88 that specifically blocks the interaction of p40 with the IL-12R β 1 chain in the IL-12 and IL-23 receptors in human¹²³. This mAb is approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of moderate-to-severe psoriasis and shows impressive efficacy in the clinic^{123,124}.

Increased p40 mRNA has been found in GVHD target organs, which is relevant to the localized production of IFNγ after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation (allo-BMT)¹²⁵. In the current study, we hypothesized that the blockade of p40 could alleviate GVHD by regulating the differentiation and function of Th1 and Th17 cells after (allo-BMT). Here, we provide evidence that both donor- and host-derived p40 contribute to the development of aGVHD. Overall, neutralizing p40 efficaciously

reduces Th1 and Th17 polarization and alleviates the severity of aGVHD and cGVHD while preserving the graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) activity.

II.3. Materials and methods

II.3.a. Mice

C57BL/6 (B6; H-2b), B6.Ly5.1 (H-2b), BALB/c (H-2d), FVB (H-2q) mice were purchased from the National Cancer Institute/National Institute of Health. C3.SW-H2b/SnJ (H-2b), B10.D2 (H-2d), and p40-/- mice on B6 background mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory. All animals were housed in the American Association for Laboratory Animal Care–accredited Animal Resource Center at Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC, Charleston, SC). Experiments were carried out under protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at MUSC.

II.3.b. Cell staining and flow cytometric analysis

Mononuclear cell isolation from recipient spleen and liver was carried out as previously described²⁵. Standard flow cytometric surface staining was used. For intracellular cytokine staining, cells were stimulated with 50ng/ml PMA (Sigma-Aldrich), 500ng/ml ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.7 µl/ml Golgi Plug (BD Biosciences) incubated at 37 °C for 4 hours before staining as recommended by the manufacturer. The flow antibodies used were as follows: CD4-V450 (clone RM4-5, BD), CD8-APC-Cy7 (clone 53-6.7, BD), B220-PE (clone RA3-6B2, eBioscience), H2Kb-APC (clone AF6-88.5.5.3, eBioscience), H2Kq-Alexa Fluor

647 (clone KH114, Biolegend), CD45.1-FITC (clone A20, BD), IFNγ- Percp-Cy5.5 (clone XMG1.2, eBioscience), IL-4-PE (clone 11B11, BD), IL-5-PE (clone TRFK5, eBioscience), IL-17-PE-Cy7 (clone TC11-18H10.1, Biolegend), CXCR3-Biotin (clone CXCR3-173, eBioscience), PD-1-PE (clone J43, eBioscience), CXCR5-PE-Cy7 (clone SPRCL5, eBioscience), Ly9.1-Biotin (clone 30C7, BD), Streptavidin-PE-Cy7 (BD), and Streptavidin-APC-Cy7 (BD). Stained cells were analyzed using Diva software, LSR II (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and FlowJo (TreeStar, Ashland, OR).

II.3.c. In vitro generation of Th1 and Th17 cells

Splenocytes were isolated from normal B6 mice and were CD8/CD25-depleted using negative selection. CD8/CD25-depleted splenocytes were cultured with IL-2 (2ng/ml) or anti-CD3 (1 μ g/ml) plus IL-12 (10ng/ml), IFN γ (1000U/ml) and anti-IL-4 (10 μ g/ml) for Th1 generation. For Th17-generation, cells were stimulated with anti-CD3 (1 μ g/ml) in the presence of IL-6 (10ng/ml), TGF- β (5ng/ml), anti-IFN γ (10 μ g/ml) and anti-IL-4 (10 μ g/ml). Cells were cultured in a 24-well plate in the presence of isotype or anti-p40 mAb at the concentrations indicated for 3 days, and then tested for the expression of intracellular IFN γ and IL-17. Supernatant from the cell culture was harvested, diluted 2 times, and measured IFN γ production using ELISA.

II.3.d. GVHD models

T cells were purified from spleen and lymph node cells by negative selection using magnetic beads as previously described²⁵. T-cell purity was typically more than 95%. T-cell- depleted bone marrow (TCD-BM) was prepared by complement lysis as previously described and transferred at 5×10^{6} /mouse²⁵. B6 \rightarrow BALB/c (1 × 106 T cells) and FVB \rightarrow B6 (2 × 10⁶ T cells) MHC-mismatched BMT models were used for aGVHD experiments. B10.D2 \rightarrow BALB/c (5 × 10⁶ splenocytes) MHC-matched, minor histocompatibility antigen (MiHA)-mismatched BMT model was used for cGVHD experiments. Recipient mice (8–10 weeks of age) were conditioned with total body irradiation (TBI) administered at 700cGy for BALB/c < 23g or 750cGy for those \geq 23g of initial body weight and 950cGy for B6 mice < 23g or 1000cGy for those \geq 23g using an X- RAD 320 X-ray Irradiator (Precision X-ray Inc., North Branford, CT). Within 24 hours after TBI, recipient mice were transplanted with TCD-BM alone or together with purified T cells or splenocytes. The recipient mice in aGVHD experiments were monitored for body weight and survival twice weekly. The recipient mice in cGVHD experiments were monitored for survival and clinical signs such as weight loss, posture, activity, fur texture, and skin integrity weekly¹²⁶.

II.3.e. Leukemia/lymphoma models and Bioluminescent imaging (BLI)

B6→BALB/c MHC-mismatched and C3.SW-H2b/SnJ→B6 MHC-matched, MiHAmismatched BMT models were used to examine the GVL effects of donor T cells. B6→BALB/c (1 × 10⁶ T cells) recipients were injected with 2×10³ luciferasetransduced A20 B cell lymphoma cells, whereas C3.SW-H2b/SnJ→B6 (3 × 10⁶ CD44– T cells) recipients with 1×10⁵ C1498 luciferase-transduced acute myeloid leukemia cells at the time of BMT. The recipient mice were monitored for body weight and survival twice weekly, and clinical score and tumor growth weekly. Mice were injected i.p. with luciferin (150mg/kg) and then anesthetized with isoflurane gas using Xenogen XGI Gas Anesthesia System. The BLI was performed by using the IVIS system (Xenogen). The imaging data were analyzed using Living Image Software (Xenogen). The mortality caused by tumor relapse or GVHD was distinguished by BLI signal indicative of tumor relapse and weight loss indicative of GVHD.

II.3.f. Antibody treatment in vivo

Anti-p40 mAb (CNTO3913) and its isotype control (CNTO6601) were kindly provided by Janssen Research & Development, LLC, Spring House, PA, USA. These mAbs were injected i.p. at 25mg/kg body weight on day 0 and then 12.5 mg/kg twice weekly for 4 weeks after BMT.

II.3.g. Statistics

The percentages of body weight change, percentages of cell types, absolute numbers of cells, and clinical scores in WT vs. KO, or isotype vs. anti-p40 treatment were compared using 2-tailed student t test. The Log-rank test was used for survival analysis.

II.4. Results

II.4.a. Donor- and host-derived p40 contribute to aGVHD severity. To examine the role of p40 produced by donor cells in mediating aGVHD, we performed an allo-BMT using p40-deficient (p40-/-) mice on B6 background as donors and tested the effects of p40 deficiency on donor BM and T cells in the development of aGVHD. The BALB/c recipients of p40-/- BM and T cells had significantly improved survival compared to those that received WT cells (p =0.046) (Figure 1A), yet weight loss was similar (p = 0.184) (Figure 1B) between the two groups. Consistent with alleviation of aGVHD, the recipients of the p40-/- graft had improved donor CD4 T- and B-cell reconstitution compared to those recipients of WT graft (p = 0.04 and 0.04, respectively) (Figure 1C). Furthermore, the function of T and B cells in the recipients of p40-/- graft was significantly improved compared to those in the recipients of WT graft (p = 0.03) and 0.001, respectively) (Figure 1D). These results indicate that donor-derived p40 contributes to the development of aGVHD after allogeneic BMT. Because p40 can be produced by either donor or host APCs and host APCs are critical to inducing aGVHD^{127,128}, we assessed the role of host-derived p40 on the development of aGVHD. Host-derived p40 had little or no effect on donor BM engraftment, because WT and p40-/- recipients infused with BM alone had comparable outcomes (Figures 2A and 2B) and similar CD4, CD8 T- and B-cell reconstitution 80 days post BMT (p = 0.33, 0.78, and 0.32, respectively) (Figures 2C and 2D). However, p40-/- recipients transferred with donor allogeneic T cells had significantly improved survival (p = 0.015) (Figure 2A) and increased donor

B-cell reconstitution (p = 0.02) (Figures 2E and 2F). These data suggest that host- derived p40 also significantly contributes to the development of aGVHD.



Figure 1. Role of donor-derived p40 in aGVHD

BALB/c mice were lethally irradiated at 700–750 cGy and transplanted with WT graft (5 × 106 BM and 5 × 106 T cells) or p40-/- graft from mice on B6 background. Recipient mice were monitored for survival (A) and body weight changes (B) over time. Data were pooled from 2 replicate experiments with total 10–12 mice per group. (C) Spleens were collected from each survived recipient 80 days after BMT, and stained for expression of CD4, CD8, B220 and H2Kb (donor marker). Absolute numbers of CD4+, CD8+ or B220+ donor cells were calculated and presented in a per spleen basis. (D) T- and B-cell function was measured by stimulating spleen cells with anti-CD3 or LPS for 3 days. Proliferation was assessed using [3H]-TdR incorporation assay. Data shown as Mean \pm 1 SD. **p* < 0.05, ****p* < 0.001.



Figure 2. Role of host-derived p40 in aGVHD

WT or p40-/- B6 mice were lethally irradiated at 950–1000 cGy. These recipients were then transplanted with 5 × 106/mouse TCD-BM alone or with 2 × 106/mouse of total T cells isolated from FVB donor mice. Recipient mice were monitored for survival (A) and body weight changes (B) over time. Data were pooled from 3 replicate experiments with total 16 mice per group. Upon completion of the experiment on day 80, spleens were collected from surviving recipients for cell counting and FACS analysis. Percentages or absolute numbers of donor-derived (H2Kq+) CD4, CD8 T cells and B cells were shown in BM alone recipients (C–D) and BM plus T cell groups (E–F). The data present 3–5 mice in each group from one of 3 replicate experiments. *p < 0.05.

II.4.b. Anti-p40 mAb inhibits the activity of IL-12 and IL-23 in T-cell

polarization *in vitro.* Using gene deletion (p40–/– mice), the data presented above indicate that IL-12/23p40 may be a valid therapeutic target for the control of aGVHD. To translate these findings to a more practical, therapeutic approach, we then focused our attention on systemically neutralizing IL-12 and/or IL-23 p40 using an anti-p40 mAb. We first tested whether anti-p40 mAb could block Th1 and Th17 polarization *in vitro* by antagonizing the activity of IL-12 and IL-23. Indeed, anti-p40 mAb inhibited IFN γ production by T cells that were stimulated with IL-12 plus IL-2 or anti-CD3 under Th1 polarizing conditions in a dosedependent manner (*p* = 0.007 and 0.02, respectively) (Figure 3A). Anti-p40 treatment also inhibited intracellular expression of IFN γ and IL-17 in T cells stimulated by IL-12 (Th1 condition) and IL-23 (Th17 condition), respectively (Figure 3B and 3C). These data indicate that anti-p40 mAb is efficacious in suppressing Th1 and Th17 polarization *in vitro*.



Figure 3. Effect of anti-p40 mAb on T-cell polarization in vitro

(A) CD8/CD25- depleted splenocytes were cultured with IL-2 or anti-CD3 plus IL-12 in the presence of isotype or anti-p40 mAb at the concentrations indicated for 3 days (details were described in the Material and Methods). Culture supernatants were harvested and IFN_Y was measured by ELISA. The levels of IFN_Y were reflected by average OD415 in duplicate wells from one of two replicate experiments. (B) CD8/CD25-depleted splenocytes were cultured in Th1 conditions or Th17 conditions for 3 days. Cultured cells were harvested and stained for the expression of surface CD4 and intracellular IFN_Y and IL-17 on gated CD4+ cells (C–D). The data present 5 replicate wells in each group from one of two replicate experiments. **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01 and ****p* < 0.001.
II.4.c. Neutralizing p40 alleviates aGVHD. Since anti-p40 mAb significantly reduced Th1 and Th17 polarization *in vitro*, we further hypothesized that neutralizing p40 would attenuate aGVHD after allo-BMT. By using the B6 \rightarrow BALB/c BMT model, we found that systemically giving anti-p40 mAb significantly improved recipient outcomes as reflected by significantly better survival and less body weight loss compared to WT controls (*p* = 0.004 and 0.001, respectively) (Figures 4A and 4B). These data demonstrate that systemic administration of anti-p40 mAb to neutralize p40 is an effective way to attenuate aGVHD severity after allo-BMT.



Figure 4. Effect of neutralizing p40 on aGVHD development

BALB/c mice were lethally irradiated at 700cGy and transplanted with 5×106 /mouse TCD- BM alone or together with total T cells at 1×106 /mouse from WT B6 mice. Recipient mice were injected i.p. with isotype or anti-p40 mAb at 25 mg/kg body weight on day 0 and then 12.5 mg/kg twice weekly for 4 weeks. Recipient survival (A) and body weight changes (B) were monitored over time. Data were pooled from 2 repeated experiments with 10 mice in each group. **p < 0.01.

To further understand the mechanism by which neutralizing p40 reduces aGVHD severity in vivo, we investigated how anti-p40 treatment affects donor T-cell activation, differentiation and migration after allo-BMT. Treatment with anti-p40 mAb had no impact on IFNγ- or IL-17-producing T cells, but significantly increased IL-4/5-producing CD4 T cells in recipient spleens at 14 days post-BMT (p = 0.028) (Figures 5A and 5C). However, anti-p40 treatment significantly reduced IFNγ-producing CD4 and CD8 T cells in the recipient liver, a major target organ of aGVHD (p = 0.012 and 0.043, respectively) (Figures 5B and 5D). In addition, neutralization of p40 also significantly reduced the number of IL-17-producing CD8 T cells in the recipient livers (p = 0.047) (Figure 5D). Anti-p40 treatment had no impact on Treg differentiation between the two groups (data not shown). Thus, in murine models, neutralizing p40 promoted Th2-differentiation while reducing IFNγ and IL-17 production in GVHD target organs after allo-BMT.

Because donor T-cell migration to target organs is an essential step for the development of aGVHD¹²⁹, we further tested the migratory ability of donor T cells during p40 neutralization. As shown in Figure 5E, there were significantly fewer CD4 and CD8 donor T cells in recipient liver 14 days after anti-p40 treatment (p = 0.03 and 0.016, respectively). Given CXCR3 is a key chemokine receptor modulating T cell migration to the liver, we measured CXCR3 expression on donor T cells and found that anti-p40 treatment significantly decreased CXCR3 expression on donor CD4, but not CD8, T cells (p = 0.004 and 0.933, respectively) (Figure 5F). These data suggest that anti-p40 treatment inhibits donor T-cell migration into the liver partially through down-regulation of CXCR3

expression. A trend of reduced pathology scores in the GVHD target organs, such as liver and gut, was observed in the recipients receiving anti-p40 mAb, although the difference did not reach statistical significance at 14 day post-BMT (data not shown).

II.4.d. Neutralizing p40 maintained T-cell-mediated GVL activity after allo-

BMT. Preserving the GVL effect is of paramount importance when BMT is used as immunotherapy for hematologic malignances. Hence, we next asked whether neutralizing p40 would maintain GVL activity while alleviating aGVHD. Using B6 \rightarrow BALB/c BMT model supplemented with A20 B-cell lymphoma cells, the recipients of BM alone plus A20 died within 2 weeks due to tumor relapse, and anti-p40 treatment without T cell infusion had no impact on tumor relapse (Figures 6A–C). The recipients transplanted with additional donor T cells survived significantly longer than those receiving BM alone, illustrated by little or no tumor signal. However, the majority of these recipients treated with the isotype control died from GVHD, as reflected by substantial weight loss and lack of BLI signal. We observed that anti-p40 treatment increased the rate and duration of recipient survival, although not significantly, and resulted in a 50% long-term survival of recipients without GVHD or tumor relapse (Figures 6A–C).





BALB/c mice were lethally irradiated at 700cGy and transplanted with 5 × 106/mouse TCD- BM alone from Ly5.1 B6 mice or together with total T cells at 1 × 106/mouse from Ly5.2 B6 mice. Recipient mice were treated with isotype or anti-p40 mAb as described in the Material and Methods. Fourteen days post-BMT, recipient spleens and livers were collected. Mononuclear cells were isolated for cell counting and FACS staining. (A–B) The expression of intracellular IFNγ, IL-4/5, and IL-17 is shown on gated donor H2kb+Ly5.1–CD4+ cells from the spleen and liver. Absolute numbers of IFNγ, IL-4/5, and IL-17 positive donor CD4 or CD8 T cells were shown in the spleen (C) or liver (D). (E) Absolute numbers of donor pathogenic H2kb+Ly5.1–CD4 or CD8 T cells in recipient livers were shown. (F) Percentage of CXCR3+ cells are shown on gated donor CD4 or CD8 T cells in recipient spleens. The data are pooled from 2 replicate experiments with 10 mice in each group. *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01.



Figure 6. Role of neutralizing p40 on the GVL activity in MHC-mismatched BMT BALB/c mice were lethally irradiated and transplanted with 5×106 /mouse TCD-BM alone or plus purified T cells from WT B6 mice at 1×106 /mouse. Recipient mice were also infused with 2×103 luciferase-transduced A20 cells at the day of BMT. Recipient mice were treated with isotype or anti-p40 mAb as described in the Material and Methods. Recipients were monitored for survival (A) and body weight change (B) for 60 days after transplant. Tumor growth was monitored using BLI on the dates indicated (C). The data are pooled from 2 replicate experiments with 10 mice in each group.

Because MHC-matched, MiHA-mismatched BMT models provide additional

clinical relevance, we next tested the effects of anti-p40 treatment on GVL

activity by using a C3.SW-H2b/SnJ→B6 BMT model with C1498 murine acute

myeloid leukemia cells. The recipients of BM alone had leukemic relapse and all

mice were dead by day 40 after BMT (Figures 7A-C). The addition of donor T

cells prevented leukemia relapse regardless of the treatment, and the mortality of

recipients was essentially caused by GVHD. However, anti- p40 treatment

significantly prolonged recipient survival 50 days post-BMT (p = 0.026) (Figure 7A). Taken together, these data indicate that anti-p40 treatment alleviated aGVHD and largely preserved GVL activity after allogeneic BMT.



Figure 7. Role of neutralizing p40 on the GVL activity after MHC-matched and MiHAmismatched BMT

B6 mice were lethally irradiated and transplanted with 5×106 /mouse TCD-BM alone or with purified CD44– T cells from C3.SW-H2b/SnJ mice at 3×106 /mouse. Recipient mice were also infused with 1×105 luciferase-transduced C1498 cells at the day of BMT. Recipient mice were treated with isotype or anti-p40 mAb as described in the Material and Methods. Recipients were monitored for survival (A) and body weight change (B) for 50 days after transplant. Tumor growth was monitored using BLI on day 21 (C). The data are pooled from 2 replicate experiments with 12 mice in each group. *p < 0.05.

II.4.e. Neutralizing p40 alleviates cGVHD. We next wanted to determine whether neutralizing p40 could attenuate cGVHD. Using an MHC-matched but MiHA-mismatched B10.D2 \rightarrow BALB/c model of sclerodermatous cGVHD, we found that anti-p40 treatment significantly alleviated the clinical manifestations of recipients at day 50 post-BMT (p = 0.036) (Figure 8A). In contrast to 30% mortality seen in the isotype group, all of the recipients survived with anti-p40 treatment (p = 0.06) (Figure 8B). Consistent with the observed alleviation of cGVHD clinical manifestations, neutralizing p40 significantly increased donor derived CD4 and CD8 T-cell, but not B-cell, reconstitution in the recipient spleens 60 days after BMT (p = 0.03, 0.036, and 0.143, respectively) (Figures 8C and 8D). In addition, the generation of follicular T helper (Tfh) cells, which are critical for germinal center (GC) formation and cGVHD induction¹³⁰, was inhibited by blocking p40 (p = 0.014) as measured by co-expression of CXCR5 and PD-1 (Figures 8C and 8D). These data demonstrate that neutralizing p40 reduces the severity of cGVHD and improves immune reconstitution by constraining Tfh generation after allo- BMT.



Figure 8. Effect of neutralizing p40 on cGVHD

BALB/c mice were lethally irradiated and reconstituted with 5×106 /mouse TCD-BM alone or plus 5×106 /mouse splenocytes from B10.D2 donors. Recipient mice were treated with isotype or anti-p40 mAb as described in the Material and Methods. Recipients were monitored for clinical manifestations (A) and survival (B). Sixty days after transplant, recipient spleens were harvested and subjected to flow staining for the expression of Ly9.1 (recipient marker), CD4, CD8, B220, CXCR5 and PD-1. The representative flow figures (C) and statistic bar graph (D) are shown. The data are pooled from 2 replicate experiments with 10 mice in each group. *p < 0.05.

II.5. Discussion

The current study provides data to demonstrate that both donor- and hostderived p40 contributes to the development of aGVHD, and that neutralization of p40 reduces aGVHD severity while preserving GVL activity. Treatment with antip40 mAb inhibits Th1 and Th17 polarization in vitro and promotes Th2 differentiation in murine GVHD models. Anti- p40 treatment also inhibits donor Tcell migration into GVHD target organs such as the liver. In addition, anti-p40 treatment improves recipient clinical manifestations of cGVHD.

Host APCs play a critical role in the initiation of aGVHD, while donor APCs also contribute to the activation and differentiation of donor allogeneic T cells^{131,132}, and thus to the development of GVHD¹³³. IL-12 and IL-23 are mainly produced by activated APCs, such as dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages³⁹. Along with modulating T-cell differentiation, IL-12 and IL-23 also act in an autocrine manner to enhance the ability of APCs to present antigen to T cells¹²². Our data illustrated that genetic deficiency of p40 in the donor or host significantly improved recipient survival after allo-BMT (Figures 1 and 2), indicating that both host APC- and donor APC-derived IL-12/23 promotes GVHD development. Consistent with this, we found that neutralization of p40 effectively inhibited Th1 and Th17 polarization in vitro (Figure 3). In contrast, we were unable to demonstrate the effectiveness of p40 neutralization with mAb treatment in blocking Th1- or Th17- differentiation after allo-BMT (Figure 5). The potential explanation would be: 1) the dose of anti-p40 tested may not be sufficient to

block p40 in vivo; 2) other cytokines may compensate for the function of IL-12 and IL-23 in the generation and maintenance of Th1 and Th17 subsets. However, anti-p40 treatment increased Th2-differention and decreased the numbers of Th1 and Th17 cells in recipient liver in the B6 \rightarrow BALB/c model, which likely contributed to the alleviation of GVHD. Our observation is also consistent with a previous study that showed neutralizing IL-12 by anti-IL-12 Ab could attenuate aGVHD by driving Th2-differentiation in mouse models⁷⁸.

T-cell migration into peripheral organs is required for the induction of GVHD. We found that anti-p40 treatment significantly reduced donor T cells present in the liver, a key aGVHD target organ, which likely contributed to the alleviation of aGVHD (Figure 5). It is well accepted that the chemokine systems plays an important role in facilitating donor T cell migration to GVHD target organs. Among these, CXCR3 has been shown to play a pivotal role in Th1 migration¹³⁴. In accordance with these observations, we found that the expression of CXCR3 on donor CD4 T cells was significantly reduced with anti-p40 mAb treatment, possibly due to the requirement of Th1-commitment to promote CXCR3 expression^{134,135}. Comparable CXCR3 expression in CD8 T cells was seen regardless of anti-p40 treatment, suggesting that CD8 T-cell trafficking is likely less dependent on CXCR3 expression, which is consistent with a published report that anti-CXCR3 treatment reduced CD4 but not CD8 T-cell infiltration in the central nervous system in response to virus infection¹³⁵. However, there is another explanation that is relevant to the GVHD model used. In B6 to BALB/c model, GVHD is induced in a CD4-dependent manner, so we are more likely to

see differences in CD4 T cells. Whereas in MiHA-mismatched C3.SW- H2b/SnJ to B6 model used in Figure 5, GVHD is driven predominately by CD8 T cells. Thus, it is possible that CXCR3 may differentially be expressed on CD4 vs. CD8 donor T cells in different models, which might be responsible for the distinct effects of anti-p40 on the migration of CD4 vs. CD8 T cells.

Although significantly attenuated aGVHD was seen when blocking p40, the efficacy of preventing aGVHD was not as potent as was observed in our previous study with T-bet and RORyt blockade²⁵. The moderate alleviatory effect of antip40 treatment on aGVHD could be due to the insufficient treatment dose and compensatory cytokine mechanisms in vivo. In addition, p40 has also been shown to be a minor regulator of inflammatory responses, suggesting that blockade of p40 reduces IL-12 and IL-23 inflammatory cytokines but simultaneously decreases the small regulatory effect of p40. The p40 subunit is promiscuously expressed, while p35 and p19 are only secreted as part of the heterodimer when p40 is also produced by the same cells. As a result, p40 is often secreted in larger quantities than p35 and p19^{39,122,136}. In mice, free p40 can form homodimers or present as free monomers, both of which have been shown to be natural inhibitors of IL-12^{122,136–138}. This could explain the potent effect of anti-p40 in polarizing conditions in vitro yet only moderate effects in vivo in regard to blockade of Th1/Th17 differentiation. The potentially inhibitory roles of p40 homodimers or monomers may also explain why targeting p19 seems more effective than targeting p40 to block the function of IL-23 in the prevention of GVHD reported by others⁵².

However, it is worth noting that homodimers and monomeric p40 have not been found in humans, indicating neutralization of p40 could possibly be more effective in human diseases¹²². Indeed, our colleagues reported that ustekinumab treatment of one patient with advanced, refractory GVHD showed a brief clinical remission accompanied by a decrease in IFNγ production and an increase in IL-4 secretion by whole blood cells stimulated ex vivo with PMA/ionomycin¹³⁹. In addition, ustekinumab has been found to be effective in several Th1/Th17 mediated human diseases, although the shift toward Th2-differentiation has not been observed, such as in psoriasis^{123,140–142}.

Of clinical importance, we assessed the T cell mediated GVL activity upon neutralization of p40 in two preclinical BMT models. When compared with BM alone, additional T cells mediated robust anti-tumor effect regardless of anti-p40 or isotype treatment (Figures 6 and 7), indicating that anti-p40 treatment largely preserved GVL activity. The preserved GVL effect could be attributed to the maintained total donor T cells (data not shown) and the numbers of IFNγ producing donor T cells (Figure 5C) in recipient spleens after anti-p40 treatment. Furthermore, a previous study has demonstrated that p40 is not required for the CTL function of CD8 T cells in vivo¹⁴³. Taken together, we concluded that inhibition of p40 attenuates GVHD while sparing GVL activity following allo-BMT.

Considering that both Th1 and Th17 subsets contribute to the development of cGVHD, we evaluated the effect of neutralizing p40 on the development of cGVHD. We found that anti- p40 treatment significantly improved the clinical

manifestations and immune reconstitution without GVHD related mortality (Figure 8). IL-12 stimulation is critical for DC-mediated priming of naïve CD4 T-cell into Tfh¹⁴⁴, and subjects deficient for IL-12R β 1, a receptor for p40, displayed reduced circulating Tfh, memory B cells and impaired GC formation⁸⁵. Consistent with this, we found that Tfh generation was reduced with anti-p40 mAb treatment, which possibly contributed to the reduced severity of cGVHD. The current study agrees with a recent report that anti-p40 treatment attenuates cGVHD in mice¹⁴⁵.

We illustrate that blocking IL-12/23p40 attenuates cGVHD. Paradoxically, a previous study shows exogenous IL-12 administration reduces the severity of cGVHD in a systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) model¹⁴⁶, in which a large numbers of splenocytes from DBA/2 donors were transferred into non-irradiated B6D2F1 recipients. There are several differences in these two models: 1) The pathophysiology of the SLE cGVHD model is characterized by B-cell hyperactivation, as well as autoantibody and immune complex-mediated glomerulonephritis, in which Th2 cells are the major pathogenic T cells contributing to allo- reactive B-cell activation. The mechanism of reducing cGVHD by administration of IL-12 in that study was likely because that IL-12 reduced Th2-differentiation and further inhibited the pathogenesis of allo-reactive B cells. On the other hand, sclerodermatous cGVHD model is characterized by fibrosis in target organs, which is predominately mediated by activated macrophages and Th1/Th17. In the current study, we demonstrate that blocking IL-12/23p40 reduces sclerodermatous cGVHD, which is consistent with the recent publish by Okamoto, et al.; 2) The pre-conditioning in the two cGVHD

models are different. The recipients in the SLE model did not receive any irradiation before transplantation, which may affect the contribution of IL-12 in the development of cGVHD; 3) IL-12 has been found to have a paradoxical role in the development of GVHD^{82,147}. A single injection of IL-12 on the day of BMT inhibits aGVHD through Fas-mediated reduction of donor T-cell activation and expansion. The dose and timing of IL-12 administration was critical for the protective effect, yet only a low dose of IL-12 was protective and administration 1 hour before BMT was the most efficacious; 4) More importantly, we targeted IL-12 and IL-23 in combination rather than IL-12 alone. In short, the precise mechanisms that account for the discrepancy from the work by Okubo et al. and the current work in the context of neutralization are not known and desirable for further investigation.

In conclusion, our study provides strong evidence that both donor- and hostderived p40 are required for the development of GVHD. Ustekinumab has been approved for the treatment of moderate-to-severe psoriasis, and in a Phase 2b trial, adults with moderate-to-severe Crohn's disease resistant to anti-tumor necrosis factor treatment showed an increased rate of response to ustekinumab¹⁴⁸. Our current work provides evidence to support evaluation of p40 blockade as a potential therapeutic target for the prevention and/or treatment of GVHD while sparing the GVL effect following allo-HSCT.

III. IL-23R signaling can bypass IL-12R β 1 through IL-39

III.1. Abstract

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HCT) is an effective means by which to treat a wide variety of diseases resulting from hematological dysfunction. However, the development of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) remains a major cause of morbidity and mortality post transplantation. The IL-12 family of cytokines is comprised of IL-12, IL-23, IL-27, IL-35, and IL-39. IL-12 family members are unique in that each cytokine and cognate receptor is comprised of heterodimers in which one subunit is shared among the others. IL-12 (p35+p40) and IL-23 (p19+p40) have well documented proinflammatory functions responsible for Th1 differentiation and Th17 stabilization, respectively, and play critical roles in GVHD development. IL-12R and IL-23R share a β -chain (IL-12R β 1) yet use distinct α -chains to mediate their respective receptor signaling. While both IL-12R and IL-23R are widely implicated in inflammatory disorders, the role of IL-12R^β1 in this context remains much less defined. We therefore studied the impact of eliminating the common IL-12R β 1 chain or the unique IL-23R chain in T cells on GVHD using murine models of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation (BMT). We found that donor T cells deficient for IL-12Rβ1 or IL-23R had an abrogated ability to cause cGVHD. In agreement with previous publications, we found a pathogenic role for IL-23R on donor T cells in aGVHD. Strikingly, a similar effect was not seen for IL-12Rβ1. These data suggest that that IL-23R contributes to GVHD pathogenesis via a pathway independent of IL-12Rβ1. To confirm that functional differences existed between T cells deficient for IL-23R or IL-12R β 1 in GVHD, we

assessed cytokine profiles of these T cells in target organs 14 days post-BMT. We found that GM-CSF production by CD4⁺ T cells was reduced exclusively in T cells deficient for IL-23R in the spleen, liver and gut. The newest member of the IL-12 family, IL-39, has been described to be composed of IL-23p19 and EBI3. Given the cognate receptor for IL-39 includes IL-23R and gp130, we hypothesized that IL-39 may play a role in aGVHD as this would explain why IL-12R β 1 is dispensable. To validate that p19 and EBI3 can form a heterodimer, we transfected SV40 cells with vectors containing control, IL-23p19, EBI3 or both cDNAs. We detected IL-39 heterodimers only in the supernatant of cells transfected with both IL-23p19 and EBI3 via ELISA. Furthermore, we observed significantly increased levels of IL-39 in allogeneic recipients at day 14 post BMT compared to recipients of BM alone. This may implicate IL-39 in the GVHD development. Taken together, our studies indicate that IL-23R plays an essential role, whereas IL-12R^β1 is dispensable, for donor T cells to induce aGVHD, yet that both chains contribute to cGVHD. Our proposed model is that in the absence of IL-12Rβ1, IL-39 could transmit IL-23Rα signaling, hypothetically by forming a heterodimer with gp130. This new finding indicates that IL-23R and IL-39 are potential therapeutic targets for controlling aGVHD in the clinic.

III.1. Introduction

Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (allo-HCT) is an effective means by which to treat a wide variety of diseases resulting from dysfunctional hematopoiesis; ranging from certain immune deficiencies to severe blood diseases and cancers^{7,13}. This therapeutic benefit is primarily due to the donor T cells present in the graft, which have the ability to mediate a potent anti-tumor response known as the graft-versus-tumor effect (GVT)⁶. However, donor T cells present in the graft also recognize foreign antigens present on host organ tissue, such as the skin, lung, GI, and liver, which culminates in the development of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD)²³. The development of GVHD is second only to primary disease as the leading cause of mortality among allo-HCT recipients¹⁶. GVHD can occur in two phases: acute (aGVHD) and chronic GVHD (cGVHD)¹⁸. While aGVHD is primarily mediated by mature T cells, cGVHD pathogenesis involves widespread autoantibody production by B cells and fibrosis²². In either phase, inflammatory cytokines play a critical role in promoting donor T and B cell responses in GVHD.

Currently, the IL-12 family of cytokines is comprised of IL-12, IL-23, IL-27, IL-35 and, more recently, IL-39¹⁴⁹. This family of cytokines is unique in that each individual member is heterodimeric, and the individual alpha and beta subunits are shared among other members. The shuffling of alpha and beta subunits can lead to dramatically different signaling cascades, culminating in a range of pro- to anti-inflammatory cellular responses³⁹. For example, the alpha cytokine subunit p35 is

shared between IL-12, which promotes T helper 1 (Th1) differentiation, and IL-35, which is a potently immunosuppressive molecule produced by T regulatory cells (Tregs). Similarly, the receptors for IL-12 family members are also heterodimeric and bind to their cognate ligand. Briefly, the p19 subunit binds to IL-23R, p35 binds to IL-12R β 2, p28 binds to IL-27R (WSX-1), p40 binds to IL-12R β 1, and EBI3 binds to gp130. Clinically, this property of subunit sharing has been exploited in order to target two pathways at once, the best example being ustekinumab, which targets the shared p40 subunit of IL-12 and IL-23¹⁵⁰. Recent studies have demonstrated the requirement of IL-23R expression on pathogenic T cells in various autoimmune diseases as well as in aGVHD^{56,108}. While IL-12/23p40 is commonly targeted in order to alleviate inflammatory disorders, the contribution of its cognate receptor, IL-12/23R β 1, in T cell-mediated inflammation has not been well defined.

Our studies found that donor splenocytes deficient for IL-23R or IL-12Rβ1 had an impaired ability to induce cGVHD compared to WT controls. During cGVHD development, both IL-23R and IL-12Rβ1 contributed to thymic damage, as well as follicular T cell (Tfh) propagation and IL-21 production, while IL-23R on donor T cells played a predominate role in promoting germinal center (GC) B cell activation and plasma cell differentiation. Strikingly, a similar effect was not seen for IL-12Rβ1 across aGVHD models. To explain this, we hypothesized that IL-39 could account for these observed disparities in aGVHD. Here, we show that IL-12Rβ1 is partially required for aGVHD, and that donor T cells lacking IL-12Rβ1 function differently than those completely void of IL-23R signaling. We demonstrate that

p19 and EBI3 can form biological heterodimers, and that these heterodimers, herein called IL-39, are detectable in the sera of aGVHD recipients. We found IL-39 levels to be highest at two weeks post BMT in aGVHD, but that IL-39 levels in cGVHD were significantly lower at the same time point. Collectively, we provide evidence that IL-39 levels are increased in aGVHD, but not in cGVHD models, providing a potential explanation for why GVHD progression may be observed in the absence of IL-12R β 1 in aGVHD. In cGVHD, both IL-23R and IL-12R β 1 contribute to disease pathogenesis and are viable targets in clinical scenarios. We interpret that donor T cells have a differential requirement for IL-12R β 1 or IL-23R, which is dependent on the level of histocompatibility antigen mismatch and/or degree of inflammation (e.g. acute vs chronic phase) in GVHD.

III.2. Materials and methods

III.2.a. Mice

C57BL/6 (B6; H-2b), B6.Ly5.1 (H-2b), BALB/b (H2b), BALB/c (H2d), B6D2F1(B6 x DBA2) (H2b/d) mice were purchased from the National Cancer Institute/National Institute of Health. IL-12Rβ1KO mice were purchased from Jackson labs and IL-23R^{null} mice were provided by Dr. Benny Yang. All animals were housed at the American Association for Laboratory Animal Care–accredited Animal Resource Center at the Medical University of South Carolina. All mice were treated in adherence to the NIH Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and their

respective protocols approved by local Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees.

III.2.b. Murine GVHD models

Recipient mice were lethally irradiated at 700 cGy for BALB/c and 1000-1200 cGy (2 split doses, 3-hour interval) for B6D2F1 recipient mice using an X-RAD 320 irradiator (Precision X-Ray). Within 24 hours of irradiation, Balb/c or B6D2F1 recipient mice were transplanted with 5.0×10⁶ T cell depleted bone marrow cells (TCD-BM) from B6 donors with or without T cells (0.5–1×10⁶/mouse). Recipient survival was monitored throughout the experiment. Body weight loss was monitored twice per week and clinical signs of GVHD were monitored once per week and include posture, skin damage, hair loss, ruffled fur, diarrhea, and decreased activity.

III.2.c. Transfected Cell Lines

SV40 cells were transfected with vectors (Sino Biological) containing control, IL-23p19, EBI3 or both cDNAs according to the manufacturer's instructions (lipofectamine 3000).

III.2.d. Flow cytometry

Mononuclear cells were isolated from mouse recipient spleen or liver. Live/dead fixable yellow from Invitrogen (cat # L34968) was used to distinguish live and dead cells. To measure intracellular cytokines, cells were stimulated for 4–5 h at 37°C

with PMA (100 ng/ml, Sigma-Aldrich) and ionomycin (100 ng/mL; Calbiochem, EMD) in the presence of GolgiStop (BD Biosciences). Fix and permeabilization were performed using Cytofix/Cytoperm Plus (BD Biosciences). Stained cells were analyzed using FACSDiva software, LSR II (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA), and FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR). The following antibodies were used for cellsurface staining: anti-CD4–V450 (RM4-5), -APC, and -PEcy7 (BD Biosciences), anti–CD8-PEcy5 (53-6.7), -APCcy7 and -AF700 (BD Biosciences,); anti-CD45.1-FITC (A20), - and -APC (BD Biosciences), anti-B220-FITC (RA3-682) and -PE (eBioscience), anti-CD44–APC,PE(eBioscience,) (IM7) anti-CD62L-Pecy5,-FITC(eBioscience) (MEL-14),CD25–FITC (7D4) ,Pecy7 (eBioscience) (PC 61.5) and anti-H2K^b (AF6-88.5.5.3). Intracellular staining was carried out using anti-IFNγ-PE or Per-cp 5.5 (XMG1.2; BD Biosciences), anti-IL-4-PE (11B11; BD Pharmingen), anti–IL-5–PE (TRFK5; BD Pharmingen), anti-Foxp3-PE (FJK-16s; eBioscience).

III.2.e. Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA plates (Costar) were coated with anti-p19 (5B2; ebioscience) and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed 4 times with 0.1% Tween 20 in PBS, blocked with 1% BSA for 1hr, then serum samples (1:5 dilution) or supernatant (1:5 dilution) were added to wells and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed 4 times with 0.1% Tween 20 in PBS and incubated with biotinylated anti-EBI3 (210-306-C55; Rockland) for 1hr at room temperature. Plates were washed again as previously described and incubated for 1hr with streptavidin (18-4100-94;

ebioscience). After washing, TMB substrate (00-4201-56; Invitrogen) was added and incubated for 10-30 minutes at room temperature. Reaction was stopped by adding 1M H3PO4.

III.2.f. Immunoblots/ Immunoprecipitation

SV40 cells were transfected as described. Transfected cells were harvested and lysed in 1% Triton-X lysis buffer for 60 minutes. After lysis, samples were centrifuged and soluble fractions were separated from non-soluble fractions, boiled in laemmli buffer, then probed for gp130 (Cell signaling; 3732S) or IL-23R (RnD; AF1689) using western blot. For cytokine immunoprecipitation, supernatant from transfected cells was probed for p19 (RnD;) and immunoblotted for EBI3 (Rockland).

III.2.g. Statistics

For comparisons of independent murine data, the 2-tailed Student's t-test was used. The Mann-Whitney test was used for comparisons of nonparametric data. ANOVA was used for group comparisons. The log-rank test was used to analyze GVHD survival.

III.3. Results

III.3.a. IL-12Rβ1 and IL-23R are required for cGVHD development

Given that IL-12R and IL-23R share a common receptor subunit, IL-12R^β1, our initial studies focused on whether this was as important for GVHD pathogenesis as its ligand, IL-12/23p40. To investigate the role individual IL-12Rβ1 or IL-23Rα on T-cell activation and pathogenicity, we utilized IL-12Rβ1 knock-out (KO) and IL-23R α functional inactive mice (refer as KO hereafter for simplicity)¹⁵¹. Immunological phenotypes of either strain of mice showed no significant differences in CD4 or CD8 memory frequency, B cells, or Tregs as compared with WT counterparts. Recent data has demonstrated that blocking p40 alleviates cGVHD^{150,152}. cGVHD can affect more than 50% of patients and is the primary long-term cause of morbidity after allo-HCT³¹. Furthermore, both donor T and B cells contribute to cGVHD pathogenesis and both express IL-12RB1 and IL- $23R\alpha^{35,36,43,108}$. Therefore, we first endeavored to define the roles of IL-12R β 1 and IL-23R on cGVHD using a major MHC-mismatch B6 to BALB/c model. Interestingly, cGVHD development was observed to depend on both IL-12R^β1 and IL-23R (Figure 1A,B). To confirm this, we also utilized a B6 to B6D2F1 cGVHD model, in which we observed consistent results (Figure 1C,D). Pathological analyses on target organs at multiple time-points supported reductions in cGVHD of the recipients deficient for either receptor unit (Figure 1E).



Figure 1. IL-23Rα and IL-12Rβ1 contribute to cGVHD. Lethally irradiated BALB/c (A, B) or B6D2F1 (C, D) mice were transplanted with $5x10^6$ TCD-BM alone or plus $0.35x10^6$ whole splenocytes (BALB/c) or $2.5x10^6$ purified T cells (B6D2F1) from WT B6, IL-12Rβ1KO, or IL-23RαKO mice; donor grafts containing TCD-BM and splenocytes/T cells were matched based on genetic background. Survival and clinical score of BALB/c (A, B) and B6D2F1 (C, D) are shown. Quantified pathology scores at days indicated are shown from 2 pooled experiments (E). n_{exp}=4, n_{mice/group}=20. *p<0.05, **p<0.01

Since cGVHD pathogenesis involves thymic damage, as well as a much broader array of cellular subsets such as B cells and T follicular helper (Tfh) cells, we hypothesized that IL-12R β 1 may be important for B cell activation or Tfh differentiation. Because BM derived cells also contribute to cGVHD, we initially examined cGVHD development when both BM and splenocytes were the donors deficient for IL-12R β 1 or IL-23R. At 60 days post allo-HCT, we evaluated B cell reconstitution and T cell differentiation (Figure 2). Both CD4 and CD8 Tfh (CXCR5+PD1+) differentiation were reduced (Figure 2A,B), while Tfr (CD4+CXCR5+PD1+Foxp3+) differentiation was increased in IL-12R β 1KO and IL-23RKO recipients (Figure 2C,D). While B cell reconstitution was significantly improved in recipients of IL-12R β 1 or IL-23R deficient donor grafts (Figure 2E,F), we found that plasma cell differentiation was reduced only in IL-23RKO recipients (Figure 2G,H). However, germinal center B cells were significantly reduced in both cohorts at day 60 versus WT controls (Figure 2I,J). IFN γ production was significantly decreased in both IL-12R β 1KO and IL-23RKO recipients, while IL-17 was reduced only in IL-23RKO cohorts, and IL-21 was reduced only in IL-12R β 1KO cohorts (Figure 2K,L). Collectively, both IL-12R β 1 and IL-23R contribute to cGVHD development.





III.3.b. IL-12Rβ1 and IL-23R differentially impact cGVHD development

While our data at day 60 post-transplant (Figure 2) was consistent with the notion that both IL-12Rβ1 and IL-23Rα are essential for cGVHD, we observed discrepancies in the function of these receptors on donor splenocytes, for example, in the context of plasma B cell differentiation which was heavily affected by IL-23Rα (Figure 2A,B). We then tested whether using WT BM had any impact on outcomes when transplanted with receptor deficient splenocytes and found that it did not. To determine potential mechanisms for the role of IL-12R β 1 and/or IL-23Rα during cGVHD development, we utilized CD45.1+ BM to evaluate how these receptors on donor splenocytes affected thymus reconstitution (Figure 3) at days 14, 30, and 45. Thymus reconstitution was notably improved in cohorts receiving IL-23R α deficient splenocytes at earlier time points, yet comparable effects were observed in cohorts that received IL-12RB1KO splenocytes by day 45 (Figure 3A,B). Absolute numbers of double positive (DP) thymocytes were consistently improved (Figure 3C). Notably, in the single positive (CD4+ or CD8+) populations, there were significant reductions in frequencies of non-BM derived donor T cells (Figure 3D-F), suggesting that both IL-12R β 1 and IL-23R α were required for thymus infiltration. We also examined the spleen and peripheral lymph nodes (pLN) at days 14, 30, and 45. In the Tfh compartment, CD4+CXCR5+PD1+ T cells were significantly reduced in cohorts that received IL-12Rβ1KO splenocytes, while CD8+CXCR5+PD1+ T cells were significantly reduced in the recipients of either IL-12R β 1KO or IL-23R α KO graft as compared to those of WT graft (Figure 4). This decrease in CD4+CXCR5+PD1+ correlated with Bcl6 expression, the

transcriptional regulator of Tfh differentiation, in recipients of either IL-12Rβ1KO or IL-23RαKO splenocytes at day 45 (Figure 4A-C). As the main effector cytokine of Tfh cell is IL-21, we measured and found that WT controls produced significantly more IL-21 from CD4+ T cells at days 30 and 45 than either KO cohorts in recipient spleen; similar results were observed on CD8+ cells at day 45 (Figure 4D). Analysis of the pLN revealed reductions in CD4+ IL-21 for IL-23RKO cohorts at days 30 and 45, IL-12R β 1KO exhibited similar reductions at day 45 (Figure 4E). Interestingly, B cell differentiation and activation was significantly reduced in cohorts that received IL-23RKO splenocytes, as indicated by stagnant GC development, plasma cell differentiation, and CD86 expression at days 30 and 45, which was not observed in IL-12Rβ1KO cohorts (Figure 4 F-I). In general, IL- $12R\beta1$ or IL-23RKO donor T cells produced lower levels of IFNy or IL-17, respectively, in both the spleen and pLN. However, IL-4 production was significantly increased in IL-12R β 1KO T cells at day 30 in the spleen and lymph nodes while the opposite trend was seen for IL-23RKO T cells. Collectively, both IL-12R^β1 and IL-23R contribute to thymic damage and Tfh differentiation, yet IL-23R may play a predominant role vs IL-12Rβ1 in regulating donor T cell interactions with B cells during cGVHD development.



Figure 3. IL-23Rα and IL-12Rβ1 inhibit thymus reconstitution. Lethally irradiated BALB/c mice were transplanted with 5x10⁶ WT B6Ly5.1⁺ alone or plus 0.35x10⁶ whole splenocytes from WT B6, IL-12Rβ1KO, or IL-23RαKO mice. Thymus was collected from mice 14, 30, and 45 days post-BMT. Flow cytometry depictions of double positive (CD4⁺CD8⁺) from the thymus at day 14 (A) and graphical representations of double positive (CD4⁺CD8⁺) frequencies (B), absolute number of double positive (CD4⁺CD8⁺) cells (C), as well as single positive for CD4 (D) or CD8 (E) non-BM derived (Ly5.1⁻) H2K^{b+} cells over time are shown. n_{exp}=2, n_{mice/group}=6-8. *p<0.05, **p<0.01,



Figure 4. IL-23Rα and IL-12Rβ1 promote Tfh/B cell responses. Lethally irradiated BALB/c mice were transplanted with 5x10⁶ WT B6Ly5.1⁺ alone or plus 0.35x10⁶ whole splenocytes from WT B6, IL-12Rβ1KO, or IL-23RαKO mice. Spleen was collected from mice 14, 30, and 45 days post-BMT. Frequency of BCL6 from gated CD4+ cells at day 45 (A) and graphical depictions of CD4⁺ (B, top) and CD8⁺ (B, bottom) CXCR5⁺PD1⁺, BCL6, and IL-21 in the spleen (left to right) over time are shown. (C) IL-21 production by CD4 (top) and CD8 (bottom) in the peripheral LNs over time are shown. (D) Graphical depictions of frequencies of donor B cells, plasma cells, germinal center B cells and CD86 expression (left to right) over time are shown. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

III.3.c. IL-23R signaling can mediate aGVHD in the absence of IL-12Rβ1

We then focused on the role of IL-23R and IL-12R^β1 in aGVHD. Initial studies to characterize T cell responses were focused on proliferation and cytokine production after being adoptively transferred into allogeneic recipients. We observed similar reductions in IL-23R and IL-12RB1 deficient donor T cells compared to WT controls in terms of IFN_γ, IL-17 or GM-CSF production. Therefore, we hypothesized that IL-23R and IL-12R^β1 would contribute to aGVHD. To test this, we used 3 murine models of allo-HCT: B6 to BALB/b (miHA mismatch), B6 to B6D2F1 (haploidentical mismatch), and B6 to BALB/c (complete mismatch). In the miHA model, we observed improvements in survival among recipients of IL-23R and IL-12Rβ1 deficient donor T cells compared to WT controls, although clinical scores were significantly reduced only in recipients of IL-23RKO T cells. Experiments using haploidentical recipients also yielded improvements in survival versus WT, yet recipients of IL-23RKO T cells also had significantly better survival than recipients of IL-12Rβ1KO T cells (Figure 5C). However, in complete mismatch models, outcomes in recipients of IL-12R^β1KO T cells showed no improvements compared to WT controls, while recipients of IL-23RKO T cells also had significantly improved survival and clinical scores (Figure 5E,F). In fact, no significant differences were observed when donor T cells lacked IL-12R² or IL-12Rβ1 compared to WT controls in the B6 to BALB/c model. This data indicates a dominant role for IL-23R in minor-, haplo-, and major-mismatch GVHD models, and the differences correlated with degree of MHC-mismatch (Figure 5 A-F).



Figure 5. Effect of IL-12R β 1 and IL-23R α in aGVHD. Lethally irradiated BALB/b (A, B), B6D2F1 (C, D) or BALB/c (E,F) mice were transplanted with 5x10⁶ TCD-BM alone or plus 1x10⁶ (BALB/c), 3x10⁶ CD25⁻ (B6D2F1), or 3x10⁶ (BALB/b) purified T cells from WT B6, IL-12R β 1KO, or IL-23R α KO mice. Survival (A, C, E) and clinical score (B, D, F) of BALB/b (left), B6D2F1 (middle), and BALB/c recipients (right) are shown. Data shown is pooled from 2-4 replicate experiments with a total of 15-30 mice per group. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

To further evaluate the role of IL-23R in GVHD development, we blocked IL-23R using a commercially available antibody and found that the treatment with anti-IL-23R significantly improved recipient survival and clinical scores compared to with vehicle control. Together, these data show that IL-23R signaling is required for donor T cells to induce aGVHD, and that this requirement is positively correlated with the degree of histocompatibility disparity among donor and recipients. Furthermore, these data indicate that IL-23R signaling may be able to bypass IL-12Rβ1 in certain scenarios.

III.3.d. IL-23R and IL-12R β 1 are functionally different on donor T cells during aGVHD

We then sought to determine how IL-12R β 1 and IL-23R differentially impacted the donor T cell response in the context of aGVHD. We utilized the B6 to BALB/c model, as we had observed the most significant differences in survival and clinical score (Figure 5 A,B). Hence, we assessed cytokine profiles of T cells in target organs 14 days post-BMT. While production of IFN γ and IL-17 of donor T cells in recipient spleen was similarly decreased in both cohorts, GM-CSF production by CD4+ T cells was reduced exclusively in T cells deficient for IL-23R (Figure 6). Further, a significant reduction of IFN γ and GM-CSF in target organs, such as the liver (Figure 6A,B) and gut (Figure 6C), was only observed in T cells deficient for IL-23R, deficient T cells in the spleen (Figure 6E). Albeit, this data suggests that IL-23R signaling promotes GM-CSF production by donor T cells which occurs independently of IL-12R β 1.



Figure 6: IL-23R α **regulates GM-CSF production in aGVHD.** Lethally irradiated BALB/c mice were transplanted with 5x10⁶ TCD-BM alone or plus 0.75x10⁶ purified T cells from WT B6, IL-12R β 1KO, or IL-23R α KO mice. Lymphocytes were isolated from the liver (A, B), gut (C) and spleen (D) of mice 14 days post-BMT. (A) Frequencies of donor CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ IFN γ , IL-17 and GM-CSF (left to right) as well as graphical representations (B) from the liver, gut (C), and spleen (D) are shown *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

III.3.e. p19 and EBI3 heterodimers are detectable in aGVHD

The newest member of the IL-12 family, IL-39, was recently shown to contribute to SLE pathogenesis; this cytokine has been described to be composed of IL-23p19 and EBI3¹¹⁰. Given the cognate receptor for IL-39 includes IL-23R α and gp130, we hypothesized that IL-39 may play a role in aGVHD as this would explain why IL-12R β 1 is dispensable in aGVHD models. To validate that p19 and EBI3 can form

a heterodimer, we transfected SV40 cells with vectors containing control, IL-23p19, EBI3 or both cDNAs. Antibody specificity for both p19 and EBI3 correlated with transfected subunits in the supernatant of SV40 cells (Figure 7A,B). We detected IL-39 heterodimers only in the supernatant of cells transfected with both IL-23p19 and EBI3 via ELISA (Figure 7C). Heterodimer formation was confirmed with immunoprecipitation experiments (Figure 7D). Given that differences between IL-12Rβ1 and IL-23R seemed to correlate with the degree of histocompatibility antigen disparity in aGVHD models, together with the fact that both receptors played a role in cGVHD, we hypothesized that IL-39 would be increased in aGVHD compared to cGVHD. To test this, we used ELISA to measure serum IL-39 at various time points in aGVHD and cGVHD (Figure 7E). We observed significantly increased levels of IL-39 in allogeneic recipients at day 14 post BMT in aGVHD compared to the recipients of BM alone. This trend of higher IL-39 in aGVHD continued at later time points, but mortality in the aGVHD setting prevented our ability to adequately evaluate significance. In contrast, we did find elevated IL-39 levels in sera from the recipients with cGVHD as compared to those from the recipients of BM alone in any time-point tested (data not shown). Taken together, the data implicates IL-39 in aGVHD development and could serve as one explanation for why IL-12R β 1 is dispensable in certain scenarios.



Figure 7: p19 and EBI3 form heterodimers that are detectable in aGVHD. SV40 cells were transfected with vectors containing control, IL-23p19, EBI3 or both cDNAs. After 2 days, supernatant was harvested and ELISA was performed for (A) p19, (B) EBI3 or (C) p19/EBI3 heterodimers. (D) Supernatant from transfected SV40 cells was TCA precipitated (input) or immunoprecipitated with anti-p19 and probed by western blot for EBI3 (top) and p19 (bottom). Recipient Balb/C mice were lethally irradiated and transplanted with 5x10⁶ TCD-BM alone or plus 0.75x10⁶ purified T cells (acute GVHD) or 0.35x10⁶ whole splenocytes (chronic GVHD) from B6 mice. ELISA for IL-39 was performed as previously described using serum taken at days 7 (aGVHD only), 14, 35, or 60 days post BMT (E). nexp=4, nmice/group=5-20. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001
III.4. Discussion

The current study indicates that both IL-23R and IL-12R β 1 play a role in cGVHD, whereas IL-12R β 1 is dispensable for donor T cells to induce aGVHD; potentially due to IL-39, a novel cytokine in the allo-HCT field. The contribution of p40 to cGVHD has been shown. However, to our knowledge, these are the first studies evaluating the effect of IL-23R and IL-12R β 1 in cGVHD.

In cGVHD, thymic damage by donor T cells was abrogated in the absence of either receptor chain, leading to improvements in thymus reconstitution, especially in recipients of IL-23RKO splenocytes at early time points. IL-23 has been shown to promote RORγt-dependent apoptosis in DP thymocytes, which may explain the accumulation of DP thymocytes in recipients of IL-23R and IL-12Rβ1 deficient splenocytes¹⁵³. Interestingly, studies in lupus models found that IL-23p19KO mice developed less SLE than WT controls via influencing thymic selection, indicating that IL-23 may promote pathogenic T cell development in the thymus during cGVHD¹⁵⁴.

Additionally, IL-23R and IL-12Rβ1 both had a significant impact on Tfh differentiation during cGVHD development in our models, which culminated in similar reductions in BCL6 expression and IL-21 production by CD4+ T cells at day 45 post- BMT in the spleen and lymph nodes. However, recent reports by others in the field suggest that CXCR5 and PD1 alone may not be sufficient to distinguish Tfh cells³⁵. Albeit, we did find that the master transcription factor of Tfh cells, BCL6,

had a correlated reduction with CXCR5+PD1+ cells in the spleen. Importantly, IL-12 and IL-23 have both been shown to contribute to Tfh development and function in humans¹⁵⁵. Lastly, B cell differentiation and activation was profoundly affected by IL-23R expression on donor splenocytes, but not by IL-12Rβ1, indicating a potential requirement for IL-23R signaling to induce inflammatory stimulation of B cells in cGVHD. Studies using lupus models have indicated that IL-23 signaling is critical for SLE development not only by promoting pathogenic T cell responses but also by enhancing B cell responses and autoantibody production¹⁵⁶. Consistent with this, we found significantly lower frequencies of plasma cells in cohorts that received IL-23R deficient grafts. Germinal center formation is known to be preceded by Bcl-6 expression in CD4+ T cells. We found that, although not significantly different at earlier time points, IL-23R deficient donor T cells had a notable trend of less Bcl6 expression over time, which could possibly explain the dramatic reductions in GC formation compared to WT controls.

We found a pathogenic role for IL-23R on donor T cells in aGVHD, yet a similar effect was not seen for IL-12R β 1. At baseline, these data suggest that that IL-23R may contribute to GVHD pathogenesis via a pathway independent of IL-12R β 1. We found that GM-CSF production by CD4+ T cells was reduced exclusively in T cells deficient for IL-23R. Further, a significant reduction of IFN γ and GM-CSF in target organs, such as the liver and gut, was only observed in T cells deficient for IL-23R may play a direct role in promoting GM-CSF production by donor T cells. As GM-CSF was recently shown to license DC and

macrophage production of proinflammatory mediators such as IL-1 β , this may be a contributing factor to differences observed between cohorts receiving IL-12Rβ1KO or IL-23RKO T cells. Recent publications support the notion that GM-CSF is critical, especially in the gut, for GVHD development¹⁵⁷. However, these studies on GM-CSF focus primarily on aGVHD (versus cGVHD), hence we did not check GM-CSF in our cGVHD models. Thus, we cannot rule out a role for GM-CSF in cGVHD; as both receptor chains were important for cGVHD, the impact of GM-CSF may be less vital in our studies. More research is required on this point. Given the cognate receptor for IL-39 includes IL-23Ra and gp130, we hypothesized that IL-39 may play a role in aGVHD as this would explain why IL-12Rβ1 is dispensable. We detected IL-39 heterodimers only in the supernatant of cells transfected with both IL-23p19 and EBI3 via ELISA and we observed significantly increased levels of IL-39 in allogeneic recipients at day 14 post BMT compared to cGVHD mice or recipients of BM alone. While our finding is novel in the field, many questions still remain regarding the role of IL-39 in GVHD. IL-39 was originally identified in lupus models and found to be produced by B cells¹¹⁰. However, aGVHD is primarily T cell mediated, leaving a large pool of cells that may potentially produce IL-39. Studies to identify these cells are ongoing. Importantly, the translational impact of IL-39 has yet to be validated as it has not been observed in humans. Hence, the most critical question we are focused on is detecting this cytokine in patient samples. Our proposed model is that in the absence of IL-12R β 1, IL-39 could transmit IL-23R signaling by forming a

heterodimer with gp130. This new finding indicates that IL-23R and IL-39 may serve as potential therapeutic targets for controlling aGVHD in the clinic.



IV. Targeting JAK2 reduces GVHD and xenograft rejection through regulation of T cell differentiation

IV.1. Abstract

Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) signal transduction is a critical mediator of the immune response. JAK2 is implicated in the onset of graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), which is a significant cause of transplant-related mortality after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (allo- HCT). Transfer of JAK2^{-/-} donor T cells to allogeneic recipients leads to attenuated GVHD yet maintains graft-versusleukemia. Th1 differentiation among JAK2^{-/-} T cells is significantly decreased compared with wild-type controls. Conversely, iTreg and Th2 polarization is significantly increased among JAK $2^{-/-}$ T cells. Pacritinib is a multikinase inhibitor with potent activity against JAK2. Pacritinib significantly reduces GVHD and xenogeneic skin graft rejection in distinct rodent models and maintains donor antitumor immunity. Moreover, pacritinib spares iTregs and polarizes Th2 responses as observed among JAK2^{-/-} T cells. Collectively, these data clearly identify JAK2 as a therapeutic target to control donor alloreactivity and promote iTreg responses after allo-HCT or solid organ transplantation. As such, a phase I/II acute GVHD prevention trial combining pacritinib with standard immune allo-HCT suppression after is actively being investigated (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02891603).

IV.2. Introduction

Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) signal transduction is implicated in human autoimmune syndromes^{158,159} and graft-versus-host disease^{26,160,161}. IL-6, IL-12, and IL-23 mediate inflammation and activate T cells via JAK2^{25,160,161}. IL-6 receptor blockade has demonstrated efficacy in a phase II GVHD prevention trial¹⁶², but does not fully impair pathogenic Th1/Th17 responses¹⁶³. IL-12 and IL-23 promote Th1 and Th17 differentiation, respectively, via JAK2¹⁵⁹. Neutralizing the shared p40 subunit of these cytokines prevents GVHD in rodents¹⁵² and may have merit in treating patients with steroid refractory GVHD¹³⁹.

JAK2 inhibition is an alternative approach to suppress IL-6 and p40 receptor signal transduction and induce durable tolerance to alloantigens¹⁶⁰. JAK2 inhibitors are clinically efficacious in myelofibrosis, a disease often driven by constitutive JAK2 activation¹⁶⁴. The existing evidence regarding JAK2 as a therapeutic target for acute GVHD is primarily supported by observations using ruxolitinib, an equimolar inhibitor of JAK1 and JAK2^{161,165–168}. Ruxolitinib has demonstrated efficacy in treating steroid-refractory GVHD, yet is immune suppressive^{161,165}. In part, JAK1 mediates the biologic effects of common gamma chain cytokines, including IL-2 and IL-15¹⁶⁰. Ruxolitinib suppresses host-reactive T cells in mice^{161,166–168} and humans^{161,165}. Although not observed in murine transplant studies, ruxolitinib reduces the quantity of human Tregs¹⁶⁹ and NK cells^{170,171}. Therefore, targeting JAK2 has the potential to prevent GVHD without conceding JAK1-mediated functions provided by donor lymphocytes.

We report that genetic deletion or pharmacologic inhibition of JAK2 significantly reduces GVHD lethality and spares the GVL effect. Moreover, we demonstrate that JAK2 blockade significantly delays skin graft rejection. We have shown that JAK2 blockade abrogates human Th1 and Th17 responses using TG101348^{26,172}. TG101348 is now regarded as a tool compound, as its use was associated with Wernicke encephalopathy caused by off-target inhibition of thiamine uptake¹⁷³. Therefore, we investigated the use of pacritinib, a JAK2 inhibitor that does not impair thiamine metabolism¹⁷⁴. Distinct from ruxolitinib, pacritinib spares JAK1 activity required by anti-tumor cytotoxic T lymphocytes and Tregs¹⁷⁵. Here, we identify that eliminating JAK2 signal transduction significantly enhances Th2 and Treg differentiation while dramatically reducing Th1 responses. Thus, we prove that JAK2 inhibition significantly suppresses donor T cells across species without untoward effects on Tregs or GVL responses.

IV.3. Materials and Methods

IV.3.a. Mice

C57BL/6 (B6; H-2b), B6.Ly5.1 (H-2b), BALB/b (H2b), BALB/c (H2d), and (B6 x DBA2)F1 (H2b/d) mice were purchased from the National Cancer Institute/National Institute of Health. Mice with a conditional KO of JAK2 on the T cell lineage were generated by breeding JAK2fl/fl (provided by Dr. Wagner at University of Nebraska) with CD4-Cre (purchased from Taconic). NOD-scid gamma-deficient (NSG) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). With exception to the NSG mice who were housed at the Moffitt Cancer Center, all other animals were housed at the American Association for Laboratory Animal Care–accredited Animal Resource Center at Medical University of South Carolina. All mice were treated in adherence to the NIH Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and their respective protocols approved by local Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees.

IV.3.b. Murine GVHD and Bioluminescent Imaging (BLI)

Lethally irradiated BALB/c (MHC-mismatched) or BALB/b (MHC-matched, minor histocompatibility antigen-mismatched) mice received 5x10⁶ TCD-BM alone or plus 1x10⁶ (BALB/c) or 3x10⁶ (BALB/b) T cells from WT B6 or JAK2 KO mice. Recipient body weight and survival was assessed twice weekly. GVHD pathology scores were assessed in a blinded fashion by an independent pathologist. Where indicated, B6.Ly5.1+ TCD-BM and B6.Ly5.2+ WT and JAK2

KO T cells were used. For GVL experiments, BALB/c recipients received TCD-BM alone, TCD-BM with 2×10³ luciferase-transduced A20, or TCD-BM plus WT B6 or JAK2 KO T cells and luciferase-transduced A20. (B6 x DBA2)F1 mice received TCD-BM alone, TCD-BM with 5x10³ luciferase-transduced P815 tumor cells, or 3x10⁶ WT B6 T cells and luciferase-transduced P815 tumor cells. BLI was performed as previously described²⁵. As indicated, pacritinib or its vehicle control were administered at 25-100mg/kg by oral gavage daily from day 0 for 3 weeks after BMT. Where indicated, ruxolitinib (a JAK1/2 inhibitor control) was given at 30mg/kg twice a day by oral gavage.

IV.3.c. Xenograft model

NSG mice (male or female, 6-24 weeks old) received a 1cm² split thickness human skin graft under anesthesia. Eligible patients undergoing mastectomy were consented and skin was collected in accordance with an IRB-approved protocol at Moffitt Cancer Center (MCC 17634). The bandage and sutures were removed after 7-10 days. Thirty days later, recipient mice then received 5x10⁶ fresh, human PBMCs (OneBlood) i.p. using a random donor allogeneic to the skin graft^{172,176}. Each transplant experiment used a unique donor pair of skin and PBMCs. Pacritinib 100mg/kg or vehicle was given by oral gavage twice a day from day 0 until day +14. The skin grafts were followed closely for signs of rejection, such as ulceration, necrosis, or scabbing. Skin grafts that were >75% non-viable were considered rejected. Pathologic skin rejection grading was performed according to criteria set forth by Bejarano and colleagues¹⁷⁷. Tissue

samples were prepared, stained (Ventana Medical Systems, Tucson, AZ), and imaged (Vista, CA, USA) as previously described²⁶.

IV.3.d. Statistics

For comparisons of independent murine data, the 2-tailed Student's t-test was used. For comparisons of dependent human data, the 2-tailed paired t-test was used. The Mann-Whitney test was used for comparisons of nonparametric data. ANOVA was used for group comparisons. The log-rank test was used to analyze GVHD and skin graft survival.

IV.4. Results

IV.4.a. JAK2 signaling promotes Th1 differentiation, but inhibits Th2- and Treg-responses by allo-activation in vitro

To examine the effect of JAK2 in T cells, we employed mice in which JAK2 is conditionally deleted in T cells(JAK2flox/flox x CD4- Cre). Phenotypically, the frequency of splenic CD4+ T cells among JAK2-/- mice was decreased compared to that of naive B6 mice (Supplemental Figure 1 A, D), though proportions of CD8+ T cells and CD4+ Tregs were similar (Supplemental Figure 1 A, B, D, E). The composition of T cell subsets within the naïve and central memory compartments were also similar between JAK2-/- and WT mice (Supplemental Figure 1 C, F,G); with only a subtle increase in CD8+ effector memory T cells in JAK2-/- mice (Supplemental Figure 1 G). In response to alloantigen stimulation, proliferating (CFSEIow) JAK2-/- CD4+ and CD8+ T cells produced significantly less IFNy, yet

higher levels of IL-4/5 and IL-10 compared to WT T cells (Supplemental Figure 2A, B). These data indicate that JAK2 signaling is critical for Th1 differentiation, and opposes Th2 and Treg development after alloantigen stimulation in vitro.

JAK2 contributes to T cell-mediated GVHD, but is dispensable for the GVL effect To study how JAK2 affects donor T cell responses to alloantigen in vivo, we first evaluated GVHD severity after transfer of JAK2-/- or WT T cells to major MHCmismatched recipients. JAK2-/- T cells had a significantly reduced ability to induce lethal GVHD compared to WT T cells (Figure 1A, B). Furthermore, a consistent reduction in GVHD severity was e observed in a minor MHC-mismatch model of BMT (Figure 1C, D). Impaired immune reconstitution is associated with GVHD¹⁷⁸. We therefore examined donor-derived T and B cell reconstitution in surviving BALB/c recipients 80 days post BMT. In the thymus, the percentage and absolute number of double positive thymocytes (CD4+CD8+) were comparable to cohorts receiving TCD-BM only (Supplemental Figure 3A and B). In the spleen, the absolute numbers of CD4+ T cells and B cells in recipients of JAK2-/- T cells were reduced compared to those of TCD-BM alone (Supplemental Figure 3B); the frequencies of donor-derived CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, and of B cells were comparable (Supplemental Figure 3A). These data indicate that JAK2 signaling in T cells facilitates recipient thymic damage typically associated with GVHD(22), yet may enhance peripheral T and B cell counts after allo-HCT.

In studies examining the effect of JAK2 on GVL activity, recipients of T cells from both WT and JAK2-/- donors exhibited significantly less tumor mortality compared to those that did not receive T cells , supporting the notion that JAK2 is partially dispensable for T cell mediated GVL activity (Figure 1E-G). The tumor mortality among recipients of JAK2-/- T cells was not significantly different (p=0.15, Logrank test) compared to those of WT T cells (Figure 1E-G). These experiments demonstrate that JAK2 signaling in donor T cells contributes to GVHD but is partially dispensable for the GVL effect.



Figure 1. JAK2 contributes to T cell-mediated GVHD, but is dispensable for GVL. Lethally irradiated BALB/c (A and B) or BALB/b (C and D) mice were trans- planted with 5 × 106 TCD-BM alone or plus 1 × 106 (BALB/c) or 3 × 106 (BALB/b) purified T cells from WT B6 or JAK2 KO mice. Survival and body weight loss of BALB/c (A and B) and BALB/b recipients (C and D) are shown. Data shown are pooled from two to three replicate experiments with a total of 6–15 mice per group. Lethally irradiated BALB/c mice were transplanted with 5 × 106 TCD-BM alone or plus 2 × 103 luc-A20 cells and either 1 × 106 purified T cells from WT or JAK2 KO mice plus 2 × 103 luc-A20 cells. Recipient survival (E), body weight loss (F), and tumor burden (G) are shown. Percentage survival and tumor mortality data shown were pooled from three replicate experiments with a total of 6–15 mice per group. Representative BLI images were taken from one of three replicate experiments. **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001.

IV.4.b. JAK2 inhibits Th2 and Treg polarization in vivo

To determine how JAK2 contributes to T cell differentiation, we analyzed the cytokine production profile of WT and JAK2-/- T cells in allogeneic recipients 14 days post BMT., JAK2-/- T cells had significantly less IFNγ+ Th1 differentiation in the spleen (Figure 2A-C). Conversely, JAK2-/- T cells had significantly enhanced IL4/5+ Th2 and Foxp3+ Treg polarization (Figure 2A-C). JAK2-/- CD8+ T cells also produced less IFNγ compared to WT controls (Figure 2A-C). Though limited to a small positive population of cells, JAK2-/- T cells exhibited increased IL-17+ Th17 differentiation (Figure 2A-C). Similar results were observed in the liver (Supplemental Figure 4).



Figure. 2. Donor T cells deficient for JAK2 are prone to Th2 and Treg polarization in vivo. Lethally irradiated BALB/c mice were transplanted with 5 × 106 Ly5.1+ TCD-BM alone or plus 1 × 106 purified T cells (Ly5.2+) from WT B6 or JAK2 KO mice. Recipient splenic mononuclear cells were isolated for immunopheno- typing on day +14 post-BMT. Data depict one repre- sentative mouse per group for IFNγ+, IL-4/5+, IL-17+, Foxp3+ (Tregs), or IL-10+ among gated H2Kb+Ly5.1-CD4+ or CD8+ cells (A). Average percentages +SD (B) or absolute numbers (C) of splenic T cell subsets are shown from one of three replicate experiments. Splenic cells from 9 to 11 mice per group were ana- lyzed in total. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001.

IV.4.c. JAK2 contributes to the migratory capacity of donor T cells

We then investigated the impact of JAK2 signaling on donor T cell migration. Expression of chemokine receptor, CXCR3, and the integrin, $\alpha 4\beta 7$, were significantly decreased among CD4+ JAK2-/- T cells in the spleen of recipients (Figure 3A,B). This reduction in CXCR3 expression is indicative of reduced trafficking among Th1 cells¹⁷⁹, while decreased α4β7 demonstrates impaired migration to intestinal tissues^{28,180}. However, the expression of CCR6I, a key Th17 chemokine receptor, was similar among cohorts (Figure 3A,B). These data show that JAK2 activation promotes T cell homing potential to GVHD target organs. Consistent with the observed decrease in $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression, recipients of JAK2-/-T cells had significantly less tissue damage in the small and large intestine (Figure 3C, D); a similar decrease in target organ damage was also observed in the skin and liver of JAK2-/- T cell recipients (Figure 3C, D). Although these results do not directly assess T cell trafficking, the data suggests JAK2 contributes to the expression of necessary chemokines and integrins required for lymphocyte migration.





BALB/c mice were transplanted with 5×10^{6} Ly5.1+ TCD-BM alone or plus 1×10^{6} purified T cells (Ly5.2+) from WT B6 or JAK2 KO mice. Recipient splenic mononuclear cells were isolated for T cell migration surface markers on day +14 post-BMT. Flow plots show expression of CXCR3, CCR6, or $\alpha4\beta7$ (A) among gated H2Kb+Ly5.1- CD4+ or CD8+ cells. (B) The mean frequency of T cell CXCR3, CCR6, or $\alpha4\beta7$ expression ±SD for one of three replicate experiments is shown. A total of 9–11 mice per group were analyzed. (C) Quantified GVHD tissue damage scores ±SD from one representative experiment are shown (BMA: 6 mice; WT: 14 mice; JAK2 KO: 15 mice). (D) Representative H&E sections of GVHD target organs from each cohort showing vacuolar changes in the skin (\downarrow); endothelialitis (#) and mononuclear infiltrates in the liver (*); crypt regeneration in the large intestine (LI, ^); and lamina propria inflammation in the small bowel (SI, +). *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01. (Magnification: 200x.)

IV.4.d. Pharmacologic inhibition of JAK2 with pacritinib reduces GVHD and spares GVL

To translate the observations made using JAK2-/- T cells, host WT BALB/c mice received B6 allografts and were treated with pacritinib, a JAK2 inhibitor, or vehicle for 3 weeks. Pacritinib significantly reduced acute GVHD mortality among recipient BALB/c mice (Figure 4A,B). At 4 days' post BMT, similar to results observed in JAK2-/- T cells, pacritinib significantly reduced CD4+ T cell production of IFNy and proliferation of Th1 cells (Figure 4C). Notably, pacritinib treatment did not significantly impact JAK2-/- T cells in these studies, indicating the potential off target effects of pacritinib in this context were minimal. While ruxolitinib (JAK1/2 inhibitor) impaired murine CTL activity against tumor in vitro (Supplemental Figure 5), neither pacritinib nor ruxolitinib interfered with the GVL effect in vivo (Supplemental Figure 6A-C). Additionally, ruxolitinib was associated with greater immune suppression against GVHD (p<.05, Supplemental Figure 6A-C), supporting that dual JAK1/2 inhibition induces broad donor T cell inactivation compared to pacritinib. Pacritinib had no direct effect on P815 cells (Supplemental Figure 6D-F).





IV.4.e. Pacritinib polarizes a Th2 response among DC-allostimulated, human T cells

We went on to verify the immune suppressive effects of pacritinib in a human system. Using cytokine- or DC-stimulated human T cells, pacritinib inhibited JAK2-dependent phosphorylation of STAT3 and significantly suppressed alloreactive T cell proliferation (Supplemental Figure 7A, B). IL-2-mediated STAT5 signal transduction, required by Treg and CTL alike, was largely preserved among T cells exposed to pacritinib (Supplemental Figure 7A). JAK2 inhibition of human T cells directed robust Th2 polarization and significantly decreased Th1 and Th17 differentiation (Figure 5A-C). Pacritinib also suppressed lymphocyte production of IL-6, IL-17A, IL-17F, and TNF-alpha¹⁸¹ (Supplemental Figure 7C). As demonstrated in rodents¹⁶⁸, both pacritinib and ruxolitinib reduced IFNγ-mediated signaling in human T cells (Supplemental Figure 8).



Fig. 5. Pacritinib polarizes a Th2 response by human T cells after allogeneic stimulation in vitro and permits the differentiation of suppressive iTreg. Data show the effect of pacritinib (2.5 μ M) on (A) Th1 (IFN γ) versus Th2 (IL-4), (B) T-BET expression (replicate means ± SEM, n = 4 experiments), and (C) ROR γ T expression ±SD among CD4+ T cells after DC allostimulation (one of two experiments is shown, performed in triplicate). (D and E) iTregs were generated from Treg-depleted, DC-allostimulated CD4+ T cells in the presence of pacritinib (2.5 μ M) or vehicle control. Contour plots show iTregs and corresponding Foxp3 expression. (F and G) Graphs show the mean frequency of iTreg and ratio of iTreg to alloreactive Tconv (CD4+, CD25+, CD127+) ±SD after DC allostimulation. n = 6 experiments. (H) iTreg-suppressive potency is demonstrated against self-T cell responders stimulated by allogeneic DCs without additional drugs. One of two experiments are shown, each performed in triplicate. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01.

IV.4.f. Pacritinib permits the differentiation of suppressive human induced

Treg

CD4+ T cells were purified, depleted of natural Tregs as previously described (>99% non-Treg), and stimulated with allogeneic, cytokine-matured DCs for 5 days with pacritinib or DMSO added once on day 0. Induced Treg (iTreg) differentiation was similar following DC-allostimulation, regardless of pacritinib treatment (Figure

5D-F). Conversely, pacritinib significantly increased the ratio of iTreg to activated conventional T cells (Tconv) compared to DMSO (Figure 5G). The suppressive potency of pacritinib- or DMSO-pretreated iTregs was similar, suggesting JAK2 is not required for human iTreg function (Figure 5H).

IV.4.g. Pacritinib reduces xenograft rejection but maintains CD8+ CTL activity against tumor

The immune suppressive effect of pacritinib on human T cells was tested in vivo. Immunodeficient NSG mice received a dorsally positioned, 1cm2, split-thickness human skin graft. After a 30-day rest period, 5x10⁶ human PBMCs, allogeneic to the skin donor, were injected into the mouse^{172,176}. Mice received pacritinib (100mg/kg) or vehicle twice a day by oral gavage from day 0 until day +14. Pacritinib significantly delayed skin graft rejection by allogeneic T cells compared to vehicle (Figure 6A,B). Skin xenografts from pacritinib-treated mice therefore exhibited significantly less pathologic rejection at day +21 (Figure 6C,D), compared to the vehicle-treated controls. IHC analysis suggested a modest reduction in Th1 cells (CD4+, T-BET+) in the skin of pacritinib treated mice (Figure 6E,F). We used an established method to generate human anti-tumor CTL in vivo and then test their specific killing in vitro¹⁷². NSG mice received human PBMCs (30x10⁶) and were inoculated with irradiated U937 cells (10x10⁶) on days 0 and +7. Mice were treated with pacritinib, ruxolitinib (30mg/kg twice a day, or vehicle as described¹⁶¹. Human CD8+ T cells were isolated from the spleens of euthanized recipients during days +10-12 and cultured against fresh U937 target

cells without further drug exposure in vitro. Ruxolitinib significantly impaired antitumor activity, while CTL function was preserved among mice treated with pacritinib or vehicle controls (Figure 6G).



Figure 6. Pacritinib reduces xenograft rejection. NSG mice received a 1-cm² split thickness human skin graft. After 30 d of rest to ensure engraftment, an inoculum of 5×10^6 human PBMCs (allogeneic to the skin) were administered by i.p. injection. Unique pairs of donor skin and allogeneic PBMCs were used for each set of experiments. Pacritinib 100 mg/kg or vehicle was given twice a day from days 0 to +14. (A) Graph shows human skin graft survival among pacritinib- or vehicle-treated NSG hosts (log-rank test). (B) Representative im- ages show skin at time of suture removal (day -30) and at day +35. (C) His- tologic representations of the skin grafts uniformly harvested on day +21 demonstrate that pacritinib reduces lymphocytic infiltration (^) and severe basal vacuolar changes of the graft, such as the subepidermal blister (#). Low power at 6x, high-power Inset at 20x. (Scale bar, 400 µm.) (D) Bar graph shows pathologic skin graft rejection scores at day +21 among vehicle- and pacritinib- treated mice. (E and F) Immunohistochemistry and accompanying bar graph shows skin-resident Th1 cells at day +21 by dual staining of CD4 (red) and T-BET (brown). n = 2 experiments, 5-6 mice per arm. (G) Graph depicts mean specific lysis ±SEM by human CD8+ CTL generated in vivo using NSG mice transplanted with human PBMCs (30×10^6) and vaccinated with irradiated U937cells (10×10^6) on days 0 and +7. Mice were treated with pacritinib (100 mg/kg twice a day), ruxolitinib (30 mg/kg twice a day), or vehicle from day 0 up to day +12. Human CD8+ T cells were harvested from euthanized mice between days +10 to +12. Results shown are from one of two independent experiments. U937 lysis was measured by colorimetric assay after 4 h. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ****P < 0.0001. (Magnification: C and E, slides were scanned using a 20x/0.8 N.A. objective and viewed using a 6.5x digital zoom in ImageScope software.)

IV.5. Discussion

While it is known that JAK2 inhibition spares Tregs and reduces Th1 responses^{26,172}, we demonstrate that genetic ablation of JAK2 on donor T cells or treatment with pacritinib significantly enhances Th2 differentiation after allo-HCT. Strategies to modulate Th2 over Th1 have proven effective in reducing GVHD lethality in rodents. IL-18 promotes STAT6-dependent Th2 polarization, suppresses Th1s, and reduces GVHD yet spares GVL¹⁸². Th2 cells are also required for MDSC-mediated immune suppression and GVHD prevention¹⁸³. Additionally, the GVHD biomarker, soluble suppression of tumorigenicity 2 (sST2), orchestrates alloreactivity in part by binding IL-33 and preventing Th2 differentiation¹⁸⁴. Therefore, we surmise that Th2 polarization contributes to the immune suppressive activity of JAK2 inhibition.

The recipients of JAK2-/- T cells survived longer, higher body weight maintenance, and less GVHD pathology in their small intestine, large intestine, liver and skin compared to WT controls. We also observed significantly less Th1 differentiation and CXCR3 expression among JAK2-/-T cells. Further, JAK2-/- donor T cells had reduced expression of the $\alpha 4\beta7$ integrin that is required for gut homing by Th1 cells. Our data suggest targeting JAK2 may reduce GVHD in part by limiting Th1 differentiation and the migratory capacity of alloreactive T cells^{28,179}.

Species-specific immune effects were observed among the murine GVHD experiments compared to the human in vitro and xenogeneic tissue rejection experiments. Pacritinib significantly reduced human Th17 differentiation, which is similar to the published results using the JAK2 inhibitor, TG101348^{26,172}. Conversely, recipients of JAK2-/- T cells and those treated with pacritinib exhibited moderately increased Th17 cells after allo-HCT. This is distinct from STAT3 KO donor T cells, which results in reduced Th17 differentiation in transplanted mice¹⁸⁵. TGF_β can promiscuously activate STAT3 in T cells to facilitate murine Th17 development^{186,187}. The loss of JAK2 countered by STAT3 activity via alternative pathways may enhance Th17 differentiation in mice but not humans due to the species-specific effects of TGF β^{188} . This is further supported by the observation that JAK2-/- T cells exhibited significantly increased Treg differentiation compared to WT controls, which may serve as a source of TGF β in vivo¹⁸⁹. Our in vitro human data demonstrated that JAK2 inhibition with pacritinib spared Treg differentiation, but did not increase the amount of Tregs compared to controls (Figure 5F). However, the ratio of Tregs to activated Tconv was increased with pacritinib (Figure 5G).

An important limitation of these data is that pacritinib is a multikinase inhibitor with effects on pathways potentially relevant to GVHD¹⁷⁵. Pacritinib potently inhibits JAK2, FLT3, IRAK1, TNK1, ROS, and HIPK (IC50 <50nM), and also has activity against JAK3 and TYK2 (IC50 50-100nM) in the JAK-STAT system¹⁷⁵. Such activity by pacritinib may be important to differences seen between JAK2-/-T cells

and the studies using pacritinib as a JAK2 inhibitor in GVHD prevention. However, the anti-JAK3 activity of pacritinib did not prevent IL-2-mediated phosphorylation of STAT5, which is required by Tregs and CTL. Tyk2 and JAK2 regulate p40 cytokine receptor signal transduction¹⁹⁰, and Tyk2 inhibition by pacritinib might also impact Th1 and Th17 differentiation beyond the effects of JAK2 blockade. Additionally, suppression of IRAK1 and IL-1β receptor activity may modulate donor alloresponses¹⁹¹. In comparison, ruxolitinib inhibits JAK1 and JAK2 equally¹⁶¹. Ruxolitinib is known to suppress STAT5 phosphorylation in human T cells and NK cells via JAK1 inhibition^{169,171}. Our group and others have observed that ruxolitinib, as opposed to pacritinib, significantly impairs human CTL function¹⁶⁹, although this is not observed among murine T cells in vivo (Supplemental Figure 6A-C)¹⁶⁸. These data suggest that human and mouse T cells have somewhat different sensitivity to Jak inhibition. Similar to ruxolitinib, we show pacritinib also limits human NK cell proliferation and function in vitro (Supplemental Figure 9). While pacritinib spares JAK1, we surmise its effect on NK cells is due to suppression of Tyk2 and impaired IL-12 activity¹⁹². Given that pacritinib permits common gamma chain cytokine signal transduction, such as IL-2, its effect on JAK3 does not explain the drug's inhibition of NK cells. Our data also supports ruxolitinib induces profound immune suppression compared to pacritinib, yet potentially at the cost of CTL function required for anti-tumor activity.

Our data support that neutralization or pharmacologic blockade of JAK2 with pacritinib preserves donor T cell mediated GVL activity. We propose that targeting

JAK2, but sparing JAK1, with agents such as pacritinib is sufficient to control alloreactivity without impairing normal T-effector and Treg function. A phase I/II acute GVHD prevention trial combining pacritinib with standard immune suppression after allo-HCT is actively being investigated (NCT02891603). Therefore, such an approach has direct translational implications in GVHD and solid organ rejection prophylaxis.

V. Conclusions and future directions

Targeting p40, a shared subunit of IL-12 and IL-23 cytokines, consistently mitigates GVHD in clinical and preclinical studies. Our group and others have demonstrated that neutralization of the p40, using genetically deficient mice and pharmacological inhibition, alleviated acute and chronic GVHD in murine models through reducing Th1 and Th17 differentiation^{145,152}. Recent data from Pidala, et al. demonstrates in vivo IL-12/IL-23p40 neutralization with ustekinumab blocks the Th1/Th17 response and improves overall survival in patients after allo-HCT¹⁵⁰. Notably, in other models of autoimmunity, in which Th17 is the major mediator of diseases, much of the originally allocated inflammatory actions of IL-12 have since been shown to be influenced by IL-23, as many studies prior to IL-23 identification were conducted via targeting p40^{91,193}. Regarding clinically translatable approaches targeting the IL-12 family, ustekinumab targets the p40 shared subunit between IL-23 and IL-12. Ustekinumab added to tacrolimus and rapamycin was shown to be safe and effective for GVHD prophylaxis after related or unrelated allo-HCT. In a randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled study, ustekinumab significantly improved overall survival and CRFS (Conditional Random Fields Score), a novel composite endpoint including moderate/severe cGVHD and relapse-free survival¹⁵⁰. Guselkumab and tildrakizumab, two monoclonal antibodies against p19, were approved for treatment of plaque psoriasis^{194,195}. However, these specific neutralizing antibodies against p19 have yet to be evaluated in GVHD patients. Recent findings have emphasized the need to

develop therapeutics methods that enable targeting of IL-12 and IL-23 signaling. A key point of our data is the potential involvement of IL-39. Given the novel nature of this cytokine, much more research is required to fully understand the role of IL-39, especially with regards to GVT. However, our work does provide a baseline by which to begin evaluating whether better outcomes can be achieved by targeting p19 in GVHD. As mentioned above, p40 blockade has been shown to be clinically effective in reducing GVHD. Interestingly, we found IL-12R β 1 to be required for cGVHD, consistent with our results targeting p40. Further, in the study by Pidala et al. in 2018, they found an overall improvement in GVHD outcomes when results from acute and chronic GVHD patients were combined, yet p40 blockade was much more effective when treating patients with cGVHD compared to acute. Therefore, future studies should focus on the biological differences of IL-12 and IL-23 in order to determine why IL-12 can exacerbate GVHD in some contexts yet suppress it in others, yet pharmacologically targeting p40 can be efficacious in reducing GVHD severity in experimental and clinical settings.

Interestingly, not only do the cytokines IL-12 and IL-23 share the same cytokine subunit, p40, but also the cognate receptor, IL-12R β 1. Thus, these shared motifs provided the rationale for blocking Th1 and Th17 responses simultaneously through targeting p40/IL-12R β 1. Our data indicates that IL-39 could be responsible for the similar outcomes between WT and IL-12R β 1KO observed aGVHD models. However, p40 itself has a diverse set of functions. Therefore, it is important to consider these functions as alternative explanations/ additional factors for our

results. For example, p40 has a chemo attractant role for macrophages mediated by IL-12R β 1 alone, which is dependent on the intracellular domain of IL-12R β 1 to signal; these reports were published with regard to IL-12R^β1 signal transduction in response to a p40 homodimer^{196,197}. With respect to alloreactive T cells, this p40 homodimer was demonstrated to have antagonistic activity for CD4⁺ IFNy production, yet could amplify IFN γ production by CD8⁺ T cells¹⁹⁸. Hence, targeting p40 in the context of GVHD may result in enhanced Th1 responses and potentially hinder CD8 mediated GVT responses¹³⁸. IL-12Rβ1 promiscuity among the IL-12 family has both assisted in the development of pharmaceuticals to target both pathways (as in the case of p40), yet also illuminated their complexity. Th1 and Th17 differentiation and stability converge at IL-12 and IL-23 signaling, respectively, as both signaling motifs share p40 at the cytokine level and IL-12R^β1 for downstream signal transmission. Supported by studies done in mice and men, IL-12 is documented to induce IFNy production by Th17 cells with respect to cytokines in the milieu, in vivo and in vitro respectively^{199,200}. This Th1/Th17 subset was shown in Crohns disease²⁰⁰.

The use of any immunosuppressive agent carries the theoretical risk of impairing host defense responses to pathogens and/or decreased tumor surveillance. Relative risks of targeting IL-12 and/or IL-23 are well documented with respect to potential risk of infections. When challenged with *Mycobacterium*, *Salmonella* or *Candida*, mice lacking IL-12p35, IL-12p19 and IL-12/23p40 have phenotypes that generally mirror what has been observed in humans. Studies of IL-12/23p40 and

IL-12Rβ1 deficiencies indicate that human IL-12 and IL-23 are redundant in host defense to many pathogens. Importantly, allo-HCT recipients treated with ustekinumab did not experience any increase in opportunistic infections or reactivation of CMV, EBV, or HHV6 compared to the placebo arm¹⁵⁰. One important factor to consider going forward is whether a similar safety profile is observed using p19 inhibitors.

Our group has demonstrated both Th1 and Th17 subsets are required to induce GVHD²⁵. Pharmacological inhibition of IL-23p19 results in reduced GVHD, and recent evidence suggests that IL-23R drives GVHD pathogenesis^{52–54,56}. These studies show that a CD4+CD11c+IL-23R+ T cell population induces colonic inflammation during GVHD, indicating a key role for IL-23R expression on donor T cells in mediating damage to the gut after allo-HCT. Consistently, the gene expression levels of IL-23 and IL-23R were upregulated in murine colons after allo-HCT⁵⁴. These studies demonstrate that the colon is specifically protected via IL-23p19 signaling blockade, and that GVL activity is maintained. In a patient cohort, Liu et al. observed IL-23 mRNA expressions in patients with aGVHD were significantly higher than those in healthy donors, and IL-23 and IL-23R expression were positively correlated with IL-17 expression²⁰¹. These studies additionally showed that IL-23 serum levels were elevated during the onset of aGVHD yet decreased during disease remission (Table 1). In aGVHD, two out of three independent studies in patients found that a single nucleotide polymorphism (rs11209026) in IL-23R of donor origin reduced incidence of GVHD; the third study

did not observe any effect^{30,202}. Hence, blocking either p19 or p40 reduces aGVHD and IL-23R deficiency in donor T cells results in abrogated GVHD. These results indicate IL-23 also plays a key role in GVHD pathogenesis. Albeit, a recent paper demonstrated genetic inactivation of IL-23R, or the transcription factor RORyt, within donor T cells similarly ablated Th17 cell formation *in vivo* but preserved the T cells' ability to induce intestinal GVHD in an indistinguishable manner compared to wild-type controls²⁴. Hence, further studies are required to dissect this conflicting result.

As with p40, IL-12R β 1 has also been implicated to have a regulatory role, although there remains a lack of data in this area. IL-12R β 1 was identified in 1994 by Chua et al. as a member of the hemopoietin receptor superfamily, an amino acid type I transmembrane protein that resembled the IL-6 signal transducer, gp130²⁰³. It was not until 1996 that IL-12R β 2 was identified, which subsequently led to the identification of a high affinity IL-12 receptor complex when IL-12R β 1 and IL-12R β 2 were coexpressed⁴¹. Notably, the existing data with respect to IL-12R β 1 in murine models of GVHD is sparse, although there is an abundance regarding its role in conferring immunity to mycobacteria and other infections^{204–206} in human. However, given that deficiency of IL-12R β 1 is relevant in patients, there are a plethora of case studies documenting related T cell responses²⁰⁷. The IL12R β 1 promoter, when deficient of the -265 to -104 region, suggested the existence of an important regulatory element. Furthermore, the -111A/T substitution appeared to cause decreased gene transcriptional activity, such that cells from -111A/A

individuals were observed to have increased IL12Rβ1 mRNA levels compared with those from -111T allele carriers. Thus, in individuals with the -111T/T genotype, reduced IL12Rβ1 expression may lead to augmented Th2 cytokine production in the skin, and subsequently contribute to the development of atopic dermatitis and other associated allergic diseases²⁰⁸.

Of particular interest is the role of IL-12/IL-12R β 1 pathway in the induction of highly suppressive antigen-specific Th1-like Tregs from naïve Tregs²⁰⁹. It was recently described that, in two patients with IL-12R^β1 deficiency, features of systemic autoimmunity and photosensitivity were observed²¹⁰. These features are similar to transgenic mice deficient for IL-12R β 2, which develop an autoimmune syndrome consisting of anti-DNA positivity, immunocomplex glomerulonephritis, and multiorgan lymphoid infiltrates with features of vasculitis. However, IL-12R^β1 deficient patients displayed substantially less circulating memory Tfh and memory B cells than healthy controls⁸⁵. In humans, TGFβ cooperates with IL-12 and IL-23 for expression of Tfh molecules: CXCR5, ICOS, IL-21, and the transcriptional regulator Bcl6¹⁸⁹. Hence, data taken from studies in IL-12Rβ1 deficient patients suggests a regulatory role for IL-12, perhaps derived from Treg function, which may explain the contradictory results observed in murine models. Albeit, the role of IL-12 in Tfh/B cell axis seems at baseline consistent among experimental and clinical studies. Our data also supports a key role for IL-12 in Tfh function, at least with respect to IL-21 production and BCL6 expression in cGVHD. While the aforementioned discrepancies are preliminary in comparison to the mass of

studies documenting proinflammatory roles of IL-12, there is still much to learn in terms of IL-12 function; especially with respect to differences versus IL-23.

While promiscuity among IL-12 cytokine and/ or receptor family is a common theme, the degree of association with glycoprotein 130 (gp130), better known for its role in IL-6 signaling, has become an intriguing area of research. Gp130 forms the link between "IL-6R/IL-12R" families, which collectively include Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Receptor (LIF-R), IL-12R^β1, IL-12R^β2, Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor Receptor (GCSF-R), and Oncostatin-M Receptor (OSM-R); and serves as a shared signal-transducing subunit for IL-6, IL-11, Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF), Oncostatin-M (OSM), Cilliary Neurotrophic Factor (CNTF), Cardiotrophin-1 (CT-1), Cardiotrophin-like cytokine (CLC), and IL-27^{211,212}. Importantly, gp130 is well documented for its capacity to transduce signals, especially for IL-6, a staple cytokine involved in inflammation. The complex of IL-6 and IL-6R binds to the ubiquitously expressed receptor subunit gp130, which forms a homodimer and thereby initiates intracellular signaling via the JAK/STAT and the MAPK pathways. IL-6R expressing cells can cleave the receptor protein to generate a soluble IL-6R (sIL-6R), which can still bind IL-6 and can associate with gp130 and induce signaling even on cells, which do not express IL-6R. This paradigm has been called IL-6 trans-signaling whereas signaling via the membrane bound IL-6R is referred to as classic signaling²¹¹⁻²¹³. This well documented promiscuity is of gp130 is one of the primary reasons we

hypothesized that IL-23R signaling may be able to circumvent IL-12Rβ1 through IL-39.

Other than cytokine blockade, which may target a wide variety of cell types, an alternative strategy to inhibit the IL-23 pathway is by targeting the receptor component. The crystal structure of IL-23Ra was recently reported²¹⁴. Hence, development of pharmaceutical compounds capable of specifically binding/ inhibiting the IL-23R has been stagnant since its discovery in 2002. It appears that IL-23 binds IL-23R with an affinity of 44 nM, while binding IL-12Rβ1 with an affinity of 2 μM; nonetheless, the affinity of the IL-23:IL-23R complex for IL-12Rβ1 has been described as 25 nM, despite no apparent interaction of IL-23R with IL-12R β 1, implying that there is a cooperative effect which is likely to be due to a conformational change of IL-23 upon binding IL-23R, which is indeed observed crystallographically^{214–218}. In a recent publication, hydrogen–deuterium exchange mass spectrometry (HDX-MS) was used to demonstrate IL-23 binding to the Nterminal immunoglobulin domain of IL-23R in both the solid state as well as under more physiologically relevant conditions. This data allowed specific identification of a binding epitope using a macrocyclic small molecule against IL-23R for the first time²¹⁷. However, IL-23R antagonism is not a new concept, as a peptide antagonist was shown to reduce inflammation in different models of autoimmune disease²¹⁹. The aforementioned data presents exciting new possibilities for future studies, yet efficacy of such prototype molecules requires vigorous testing in preclinical models.

Both IL-12R and IL-23R have been demonstrated to signal via JAK2; JAK2 deficient donor T cells or JAK2 inhibition with pacritinib were demonstrated to significantly alleviate GVHD in murine models via spared Treg differentiation and reductions in Th1 and Th17 differentiation in in mouse and human T cells²²⁰. This is consistent with reports describing a common reliance on JAK2 by both IL-12 and IL-23. A key difference in downstream signaling is that IL-12 phosphorylates primarily STAT4, while IL-23 mainly induces STAT3 phosphorylation. Betts et al. reported that at 20 days' post allo-HCT, pSTAT3 was significantly increased in CD4⁺ T cells among patients who would later develop aGVHD; a signaling pathway known to directly drive the transcription of Th17 lineage-specific genes²⁶.

JAK2 signal transduction is implicated in human autoimmune syndromes and GVHD. IL-6, IL-12, and IL-23 mediate inflammation and activate T cells via JAK2^{26,158–161}. Blocking the IL-6 receptor with the monoclonal antibody tocilizumab has demonstrated efficacy in a phase II GVHD prevention trial¹⁶². Tocilizumab, however, does not fully impair pathogenic Th1/Th17 responses¹⁶³, which may be attributed to the IL-12 and IL-23 receptor signaling-induced JAK2 activation to promote Th1 and Th17 differentiation, respectively. Neutralization of these p40 cytokines prevents GVHD in murine models, and may have activity in treating patients with steroid refractory GVHD¹³⁹.
JAK2 inhibition is an alternative approach to suppress IL-6 and p40 receptor signal transduction and induce durable tolerance to alloantigens. JAK2 inhibitors are clinically efficacious in myelofibrosis, a hematological disease often driven by constitutive JAK2 activation¹⁶⁴. The existing evidence regarding JAK2 as a therapeutic target for acute GVHD is primarily supported by observations using ruxolitinib, an equimolar inhibitor of JAK1 and JAK2^{165–168}. Ruxolitinib has been previously demonstrated as efficacious in treating steroid refractory GVHD and is clearly immunosuppressive. In part, JAK1 mediates the biologic effects of common gamma chain cytokines, including IL-2 and IL-15. Ruxolitinib suppresses hostreactive T cells in mice and humans. Although not observed in murine transplant studies, ruxolitinib treatment reduces the quantity of Tregs as well as the beneficial effects of NK cells in myelofibrosis patients^{169–171}. Therefore, a JAK2 inhibitor has the potential to prevent GVHD without conceding JAK1-mediated functions provided by donor lymphocytes. Further research determining the differential effects of JAK1 and JAK2 is required to resolve these conundrums.

Given the recent discovery of IL-39 (p19/EBI3) and its cognate receptor (IL-23Ra/gp130), the question pertaining to the individual requirement for each particular cytokine/ receptor complex becomes much more complex. IL-39R was shown to signal via STAT1/ STAT3 pathways, which overlaps with IL-27 and IL-23 signaling, respectively. The manner by which IL-39R and IL-23R on T cells may differentially or similarly impact the T cell response in allo-HCT requires further investigation.

99

While inhibiting JAK2 signal transduction by IL-12 and IL-23 is a promising strategy, the question pertaining to how the shared or disparate receptors contribute to signal transduction and the consequential effect on T cell differentiation in allo-HCT remains unclear. The advancement of targeted pharmacological compounds specific for IL-12 or IL-23 signaling will be required to adequately dissect these scientific questions appropriately across species.

VI. Literature cited

- REKERS, P. E. EFFECT OF TRANSPLANTATION OF BONE MARROW INTO IRRADIATED ANIMALS. *Arch. Surg.* (1950). doi:10.1001/archsurg.1950.01250010656001
- Barnes, D. W. H., Corp, M. J., Louth, J. F. & Neal, F. E. Treatment of Murine Leukaemia with X Rays and Homologous Bone Marrow. *Br. Med. J.* (1956). doi:10.1136/bmj.2.4993.626
- van Rood, J. J. The detection of transplantation antigens in leukocytes.
 Seminars in Hematology (1968).
- Thomas, E. D. *et al.* One hundred patients with acute leukemia treated by chemotherapy, total body irradiation, and allogenic marrow transplantation. *Blood* (1977). doi:10.1182/blood.v49.4.511.bloodjournal494511
- Thomas, E. D. *et al.* Marrow Transplantation for Acute Nonlymphoblastic Leukemia in First Remission. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (1979). doi:10.1056/NEJM197909133011109
- Kolb, H. J. Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. *Blood* (2008). doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-077974
- Thomas, E. D., Lochte, H. L., Lu, W. C. & Ferrebee, J. W. Intravenous infusion of bone marrow in patients receiving radiation and chemotherapy.
 N. Engl. J. Med. (1957). doi:10.1056/NEJM195709122571102
- Wu, C. Immunologic targeting of the cancer stem cell. *StemBook* (2008). doi:10.3824/stembook.1.21.1

- Zorn, E. *et al.* Minor Histocompatibility Antigen DBY Elicits a Coordinated B and T Cell Response after Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation. *J. Exp. Med.* (2004). doi:10.1084/jem.20031560
- Ruggeri, L. *et al.* NK cell alloreactivity and allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood Cells, Mol. Dis.* (2008). doi:10.1016/j.bcmd.2007.06.029
- Ruggeri, L. *et al.* Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell aloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science (80-.).* (2002). doi:10.1126/science.1068440
- Pende, D. *et al.* Anti-leukemia activity of alloreactive NK cells in KIR ligandmismatched haploidentical HSCT for pediatric patients: Evaluation of the functional role of activating KIR and redefinition of inhibitory KIR specificity. *Blood* (2009). doi:10.1182/blood-2008-06-164103
- Scott, B. L. *et al.* Myeloablative versus reduced-intensity hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. *J. Clin. Oncol.* (2017). doi:10.1200/JCO.2016.70.7091
- Ganguly, S. *et al.* Donor CD4+Foxp3+regulatory T cells are necessary for posttransplantation cyclophosphamide-mediated protection against GVHD in mice. *Blood* (2014). doi:10.1182/blood-2013-10-525873
- Cutler, C. *et al.* Tacrolimus/sirolimus vs tacrolimus/methotrexate as GVHD prophylaxis after matched, related donor allogeneic HCT. *Blood* (2014). doi:10.1182/blood-2014-04-567164
- 16. Pasquini MC, W. Z., Pasquini, M. & Wang, Z. Current use and outcome of

hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. CIBMTR Summary Slides (2013).

- Zeiser, R. *et al.* Inhibition of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell function by calcineurin-dependent interleukin-2 production. *Blood* (2006). doi:10.1182/blood-2006-01-0329
- McDonald-Hyman, C., Turka, L. A. & Blazar, B. R. Advances and challenges in immunotherapy for solid organ and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Science Translational Medicine* (2015). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa6853
- McGeachy, M. J. *et al.* The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. *Nat. Immunol.* (2009). doi:10.1038/ni.1698
- Dudakov, J. A., Hanash, A. M. & van den Brink, M. R. M. Interleukin-22: Immunobiology and Pathology. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* (2015). doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112123
- 21. Zenewicz, L. A. & Flavell, R. A. Recent advances in IL-22 biology. International Immunology (2011). doi:10.1093/intimm/dxr001
- Longo, D. L., Zeiser, R. & Blazar, B. R. Acute Graft-versus-Host Disease-Biologic Process, Prevention, and Therapy. *n engl j med* (2017). doi:10.1056/NEJMra1609337
- Toubai, T., Mathewson, N. D., Magenau, J. & Reddy, P. Danger signals and graft-versus-host disease: Current understanding and future perspectives. *Frontiers in Immunology* (2016). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00539

- 24. Buchele, V. *et al.* Targeting inflammatory T helper cells via retinoic acidrelated orphan receptor gamma t is ineffective to prevent allo-responsedriven colitis. *Front. Immunol.* (2018). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01138
- Yu, Y. *et al.* Prevention of GVHD while sparing GVL effect by targeting Th1 and Th17 transcription factor T-bet and RORγt in mice. *Blood* (2011). doi:10.1182/blood-2011-03-340315
- Betts, B. C. *et al.* CD4 ⁺ T cell STAT3 phosphorylation precedes acute GVHD, and subsequent Th17 tissue invasion correlates with GVHD severity and therapeutic response. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* (2015). doi:10.1189/jlb.5A1114-532RR
- Welniak, L. A., Blazar, B. R. & Murphy, W. J. Immunobiology of Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* (2007). doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141606
- 28. Chen, Y. B. *et al.* Expression of α4β7 integrin on memory CD8 + T cells at the presentation of acute intestinal GVHD. *Bone Marrow Transplant.*(2013). doi:10.1038/bmt.2012.191
- Koyama, M. *et al.* Donor colonic CD103+ dendritic cells determine the severity of acute graft-versus-host disease. *J. Exp. Med.* (2015). doi:10.1084/jem.20150329
- Nguyen, Y. *et al.* Insufficient evidence for association of NOD2/CARD15 or other inflammatory bowel disease-associated markers on GVHD incidence or other adverse outcomes in T-replete, unrelated donor transplantation. *Blood* (2010). doi:10.1182/blood-2009-09-243840

- Lee, S. J., Vogelsang, G. & Flowers, M. E. D. Chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2003). doi:10.1053/bbmt.2003.50026
- Wu, T. *et al.* Thymic damage, impaired negative selection, and development of chronic graft-versus-host disease caused by donor CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J. Immunol.* (2013). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300657
- Murphy, C. A. *et al.* Divergent Pro- and Antiinflammatory Roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in Joint Autoimmune Inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* (2003). doi:10.1084/jem.20030896
- MacDonald, K. P. A., Betts, B. C. & Couriel, D. Reprint of: Emerging Therapeutics for the Control of Chronic Graft-versus-Host Disease. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 24, S7–S14 (2018).
- Deng, R. *et al.* Extrafollicular CD4+T-B interactions are sufficient for inducing autoimmune-like chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Nat. Commun.* (2017). doi:10.1038/s41467-017-00880-2
- Jin, H. *et al.* Antibodies from donor B cells perpetuate cutaneous chronic graft-versus-host disease in mice. *Blood* (2016). doi:10.1182/blood-2015-09-668145
- Du, J. *et al.* Pirfenidone ameliorates murine chronic GVHD through inhibition of macrophage infiltration and TGF-β production. *Blood* (2017). doi:10.1182/blood-2017-01-758854
- 38. Thompson, A. & Orr, S. J. Emerging IL-12 family cytokines in the fight against fungal infections. *Cytokine* (2018). doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2018.05.019

- Vignali, D. A. A. & Kuchroo, V. K. IL-12 family cytokines: immunological playmakers. *Nature Immunology* (2012). doi:10.1038/ni.2366
- Garbers, C. *et al.* Plasticity and cross-talk of Interleukin 6-type cytokines.
 Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews (2012).
 doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2012.04.001
- Presky, D. H. *et al.* A functional interleukin 12 receptor complex is composed of two beta-type cytokine receptor subunits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (1996). doi:10.1073/PNAS.93.24.14002
- 42. Kusaba, H. *et al.* Interleukin-12-induced interferon-gamma production by human peripheral blood T cells is regulated by mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). *J. Biol. Chem.* (2005). doi:10.1074/jbc.M405204200
- Jacobson, N. G. *et al.* Interleukin 12 signaling in T helper type 1 (Th1) cells involves tyrosine phosphorylation of signal transducer and activator of transcription (Stat)3 and Stat4. *J. Exp. Med.* (1995). doi:7722452
- Bacon, C. M. *et al.* Interleukin 12 induces tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of STAT4 in human lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (1995). doi:10.1073/pnas.92.16.7307
- Yao, B. B., Niu, P., Surowy, C. S. & Faltynek, C. R. Direct interaction of STAT4 with the IL-12 receptor. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* (1999). doi:10.1006/abbi.1999.1302
- 46. Dey, B. R., Yang, Y. G., Szot, G. L., Pearson, D. a & Sykes, M. Interleukin-12 inhibits graft-versus-host disease through an Fas-mediated mechanism associated with alterations in donor T-cell activation and expansion. *Blood*

(1998).

- Sykes, M., Szot, G. L., Nguyen, P. L. & Pearson, D. a. Interleukin-12 inhibits murine graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (1995).
- 48. Oppmann, B. *et al.* Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine,
 IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. *Immunity* (2000). doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00070-4
- 49. Parganas, E. *et al.* Jak2 is essential for signaling through a variety of cytokine receptors. *Cell* (1998). doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81167-8
- Ahn, H. J. *et al.* Requirement for distinct Janus kinases and STAT proteins in T cell proliferation versus IFN-gamma production following IL-12 stimulation. *J. Immunol.* (1998).
- Floss, D. M. *et al.* Defining the functional binding sites of interleukin 12 receptor 1 and interleukin 23 receptor to Janus kinases. *Mol. Biol. Cell* (2016). doi:10.1091/mbc.E14-12-1645
- 52. Das, R. *et al.* Blockade of interleukin-23 signaling results in targeted protection of the colon and allows for separation of graft-versus-host and graft-versus-leukemia responses. *Blood* (2010). doi:10.1182/blood-2009-11-255422
- Thompson, J. S., Chu, Y., Glass, J. F. & Brown, S. A. Absence of IL-23p19 in donor allogeneic cells reduces mortality from acute GVHD. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2010). doi:10.1038/bmt.2009.215
- 54. Das, R., Chen, X., Komorowski, R., Hessner, M. J. & Drobyski, W. R. Interleukin-23 secretion by donor antigen-presenting cells is critical for

organ-specific pathology in graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2009). doi:10.1182/blood-2008-08-175448

- Parham, C. *et al.* A Receptor for the Heterodimeric Cytokine IL-23 Is
 Composed of IL-12R 1 and a Novel Cytokine Receptor Subunit, IL-23R. *J. Immunol.* (2002). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.11.5699
- Zhou, V. *et al.* A colitogenic memory CD4+T cell population mediates gastrointestinal graft-versus-host disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2016). doi:10.1172/JCI80874
- 57. Zhang, P. *et al.* Eomesodermin promotes the development of type 1 regulatory T (T R 1) cells. *Sci. Immunol* (2017).
- Belle, L. *et al.* Blockade of interleukin-27 signaling reduces GVHD in mice by augmenting Treg reconstitution and stabilizing Foxp3 expression. *Blood* (2016). doi:10.1182/blood-2016-02-698241
- Bastian, D. *et al.* IL-27 Receptor Signaling on T cells Augments GVHD Severity through Enhancing Th1 Responses. 2, 151–157 (2018).
- 60. Collison, L. W. *et al.* The composition and signaling of the IL-35 receptor are unconventional. *Nat. Immunol.* (2012). doi:10.1038/ni.2227
- Liu, Y. *et al.* IL-35 mitigates murine acute graft-versus-host disease with retention of graft-versus-leukemia effects. *Leukemia* (2015). doi:10.1038/leu.2014.310
- Wu, C. -y. *et al.* IL-12 Receptor 2 (IL-12R 2)-Deficient Mice Are Defective in IL-12-Mediated Signaling Despite the Presence of High Affinity IL-12 Binding Sites. *J. Immunol.* (2000). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.11.6221

- Thierfelder, W. E. *et al.* Requirement for Stat4 in interleukin-12-mediated responses of natural killer and T cells. *Nature* (1996).
 doi:10.1038/382171a0
- Galon, J., Sudarshan, C., Ito, S., Finbloom, D. & O'Shea, J. J. IL-12 induces IFN regulating factor-1 (IRF-1) gene expression in human NK and T cells. *J. Immunol.* (1999).
- 65. Lehtonen, A. *et al.* IFN-α and IL-12 activate IFN regulatory factor 1 (IRF-1),
 IRF-4, and IRF-8 gene expression in human NK and T cells. *Cytokine*(2003). doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2003.07.001
- Yanagida, T., Kato, T., Igarashi, O., Inoue, T. & Nariuchi, H. Second signal activity of IL-12 on the proliferation and IL-2R expression of T helper cell-1 clone. *J. Immunol.* (1994). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.12.6506
- Foukas, L. C., Panayotou, G. & Shepherd, P. R. Direct Interaction of Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II-derived Peptides with Class Ia Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Results in Dose-dependent Stimulatory Effects. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2004). doi:10.1074/jbc.M303999200
- Lim, Y. C. *et al.* Expression of functional selectin ligands on Th cells is differentially regulated by IL-12 and IL-4. *J. Immunol.* (1999).
- White, S. J., Underhill, G. H., Kaplan, M. H. & Kansas, G. S. Cutting Edge: Differential Requirements for Stat4 in Expression of Glycosyltransferases Responsible for Selectin Ligand Formation in Th1 Cells. *J. Immunol.* (2001). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.2.628
- 70. Lim, Y.-C. et al. IL-12, STAT4-Dependent Up-Regulation of CD4+ T Cell

Core 2 -1,6-n-Acetylglucosaminyltransferase, an Enzyme Essential for Biosynthesis of P-Selectin Ligands. *J. Immunol.* (2001). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4476

- 71. Underhill, G. H. *et al.* A crucial role for T-bet in selectin ligand expression in T helper 1 (Th1) cells. *Blood* (2005). doi:10.1182/blood-2005-03-0984
- 72. Yamamoto, K., Yamaguchi, M., Miyasaka, N. & Miura, O. SOCS-3 inhibits IL-12-induced STAT4 activation by binding through its SH2 domain to the STAT4 docking site in the IL-12 receptor β2 subunit. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* (2003). doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.09.140
- Takatori, H. *et al.* Stat5a inhibits IL-12-induced Th1 cell differentiation through the induction of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 expression. *J. Immunol.* (2005). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.7.4105
- Yi, T. *et al.* Reciprocal differentiation and tissue-specific pathogenesis of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells in graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2009).
 doi:10.1182/blood-2009-05-219402
- Korholz, D. *et al.* Decreased interleukin 10 and increased interferongamma production in patients with chronic graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* (1997). doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1700718
- 76. Imanguli, M. M. *et al.* Increased T-bet + cytotoxic effectors and type i interferon-mediated processes in chronic graft-versus-host disease of the oral mucosa. *Blood* (2009). doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-168351
- 77. Rose-John, S., Scheller, J. & Schaper, F. 'Family reunion' A structured

view on the composition of the receptor complexes of interleukin-6-type and interleukin-12-type cytokines. *Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2015.07.011

- 78. Williamson, E., Garside, P., Bradley, J. A., More, I. A. & Mowat, A. M. Neutralizing IL-12 during induction of murine acute graft-versus-host disease polarizes the cytokine profile toward a Th2-type alloimmune response and confers long term protection from disease. *J. Immunol.* (1997).
- Williamson, E., Garside, P., Bradley, J. a & Mowat, a M. IL-12 is a central mediator of acute graft-versus-host disease in mice. *J. Immunol.* (1996). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.3.1535
- Reddy, V. *et al.* Interleukin 12 is associated with reduced relapse without increased incidence of graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2005). doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2005.08.032
- Yang, Y. G., Dey, B., Sergio, J. J. & Sykes, M. Interleukin-12 prevents severe acute graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) and GVHD-associated immune dysfunction in a fully major histocompatibility complex haplotypemismatched murine bone marrow transplantation model. *Transplantation* (1997). doi:10.1097/00007890-199711150-00018
- 82. Sykes, M. *et al.* Dose and timing of interleukin (IL)-12 and timing and type of total-body irradiation: Effects on graft-vs.-host disease inhibition and toxicity of exogenous IL-12 in murine bone marrow transplant recipients.

Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. (1999). doi:10.1016/S1083-8791(99)70002-9

- Yamamoto, K., Shibata, F., Miyasaka, N. & Miura, O. The human perforin gene is a direct target of STAT4 activated by IL-12 in NK cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* (2002). doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(02)02378-1
- Song, Y. *et al.* IL-12/IL-18-preactivated donor NK cells enhance GVL effects and mitigate GvHD after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (2018). doi:10.1002/eji.201747177
- Schmitt, N. *et al.* IL-12 receptor ??1 deficiency alters in vivo T follicular helper cell response in humans. *Blood* (2013). doi:10.1182/blood-2012-08-448902
- Linterman, M. A. & Vinuesa, C. G. Signals that influence T follicular helper cell differentiation and function. *Seminars in Immunopathology* (2010). doi:10.1007/s00281-009-0194-z
- 87. Chen, Z. *et al.* Selective regulatory function of Socs3 in the formation of IL-17-secreting T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2006). doi:10.1073/pnas.0600666103
- Yang, X. O. *et al.* STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2007). doi:10.1074/jbc.C600321200
- 89. Laurence, A. & O'Shea, J. J. TH-17 differentiation: of mice and men. *Nat. Immunol.* (2007). doi:10.1038/ni0907-903
- 90. McGeachy, M. J. & Cua, D. J. Th17 Cell Differentiation: The Long and

Winding Road. Immunity (2008). doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.001

- Langrish, C. L. *et al.* IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* (2005). doi:10.1084/jem.20041257
- 92. Codarri, L. *et al.* RORγ3t drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* (2011). doi:10.1038/ni.2027
- 93. El-Behi, M. *et al.* The encephalitogenicity of TH17 cells is dependent on IL1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat. Immunol.*(2011). doi:10.1038/ni.2031
- Meyer zu Horste, G. *et al.* RBPJ Controls Development of Pathogenic Th17 Cells by Regulating IL-23 Receptor Expression. *Cell Rep.* (2016). doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.088
- Jacobs, S. R. *et al.* Glucose Uptake Is Limiting in T Cell Activation and Requires CD28-Mediated Akt-Dependent and Independent Pathways. *J. Immunol.* (2008). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4476
- 96. Frauwirth, K. A. *et al.* The CD28 signaling pathway regulates glucose metabolism. *Immunity* (2002). doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00323-0
- Hanahan, D. *et al.* HIF1alpha-dependent glycolytic pathway orchestrates a metabolic checkpoint for the differentiation of TH17 and Treg cells. *J Immunol* (2011). doi:10.1084/jem.20110278
- 98. Peter, K., Rehli, M., Singer, K., Renner-Sattler, K. & Kreutz, M. Lactic acid delays the inflammatory response of human monocytes. *Biochem.*

Biophys. Res. Commun. (2015). doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.01.005

- 99. Luo, W. *et al.* Pyruvate kinase M2 is a PHD3-stimulated coactivator for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Cell* (2011). doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.03.054
- Semenza, G. L. Regulation of metabolism by hypoxia-inducible factor 1.
 Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. (2011).
 doi:10.1101/sqb.2011.76.010678
- Gao, X., Wang, H., Yang, J. J., Liu, X. & Liu, Z. R. Pyruvate Kinase M2 Regulates Gene Transcription by Acting as a Protein Kinase. *Mol. Cell* (2012). doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.01.001
- Lochmatter, C. *et al.* Integrative Phosphoproteomics Links IL-23R Signaling with Metabolic Adaptation in Lymphocytes. *Sci. Rep.* (2016). doi:10.1038/srep24491
- 103. Kleinewietfeld, M. *et al.* Sodium chloride drives autoimmune disease by the induction of pathogenic TH 17 cells. *Nature* (2013).
 doi:10.1038/nature11868
- 104. Wu, C. *et al.* Induction of pathogenic TH 17 cells by inducible salt-sensing kinase SGK1. *Nature* (2013). doi:10.1038/nature11984
- Jain, R. *et al.* Interleukin-23-Induced Transcription Factor Blimp-1
 Promotes Pathogenicity of T Helper 17 Cells. *Immunity* (2016).
 doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.11.009
- 106. Buonocore, S. *et al.* Innate lymphoid cells drive interleukin-23-dependent innate intestinal pathology. *Nature* (2010). doi:10.1038/nature08949
- 107. Hue, S. et al. Interleukin-23 drives innate and T cell-mediated intestinal

inflammation. J. Exp. Med. (2006). doi:10.1084/jem.20061099

- Ahern, P. P. *et al.* Interleukin-23 Drives Intestinal Inflammation through Direct Activity on T Cells. *Immunity* (2010). doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.08.010
- Tonel, G. *et al.* Cutting Edge: A Critical Functional Role for IL-23 in Psoriasis. *J. Immunol.* (2010). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001538
- Wang, X. *et al.* A novel IL-23p19/Ebi3 (IL-39) cytokine mediates inflammation in Lupus-like mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (2016). doi:10.1002/eji.201546095
- 111. Ramnath, D. *et al.* TLR3 drives IRF6-dependent IL-23p19 expression and p19/EBI3 heterodimer formation in keratinocytes. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* (2015). doi:10.1038/icb.2015.77
- Blazar, B. R., Murphy, W. J. & Abedi, M. Advances in graft-versus-host disease biology and therapy. *Nature Reviews Immunology* (2012). doi:10.1038/nri3212
- 113. Jenq, R. R. & Van Den Brink, M. R. M. Allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation: Individualized stem cell and immune therapy of cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* (2010). doi:10.1038/nrc2804
- Markey, K. A., MacDonald, K. P. A. & Hill, G. R. The biology of graftversus-host disease: Experimental systems instructing clinical practice. *Blood* (2014). doi:10.1182/blood-2014-02-514745
- Socié, G. & Ritz, J. Current issues in chronic graft-versus-host disease.
 Blood (2014). doi:10.1182/blood-2014-01-514752

- Arora, M. *et al.* New classification of chronic GVHD: Added clarity from the consensus diagnoses. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2009). doi:10.1038/bmt.2008.305
- Iclozan, C. *et al.* T helper17 Cells Are Sufficient But Not Necessary to Induce Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2010). doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.09.023
- 118. Chen, X. *et al.* Absence of regulatory T-cell control of TH1 and TH17 cells is responsible for the autoimmune-mediated pathology in chronic graftversus-host disease. *Blood* (2007). doi:10.1182/blood-2007-05-091074
- Nishimori, H. *et al.* Synthetic retinoid Am80 ameliorates chronic graftversus-host disease by down-regulating Th1 and Th17. *Blood* (2012). doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-332478
- Yi, T. *et al.* Absence of donor Th17 leads to augmented Th1 differentiation and exacerbated acute graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2008).
 doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-126987
- 121. Murphy, W. J. *et al.* Differential effects of the absence of interferon-γ and
 IL-4 in acute graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic bone marrow
 transplantation in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* (1998). doi:10.1172/JCI3906
- 122. Langrish, C. L. *et al.* IL-12 and IL-23: Master regulators of innate and adaptive immunity. *Immunological Reviews* (2004). doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00214.x
- 123. Papp, K. *et al.* Safety Surveillance for Ustekinumab and Other Psoriasis Treatments From the Psoriasis Longitudinal Assessment and Registry

(PSOLAR). J Drugs Dermatol (2015).

- 124. Leonardi, C. L. *et al.* Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 76-week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 1). *Lancet* (2008). doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60725-4
- 125. Kichian, K., Nestel, F. P., Kim, D., Ponka, P. & Lapp, W. S. IL-12 p40
 Messenger RNA Expression in Target Organs during Acute Graft-Versus Host Disease Possible Involvement of IFN-γ. *J. Immunol.* (1996).
- 126. Cooke, K. R. *et al.* An experimental model of idiopathic pneumonia syndrome after bone marrow transplantation: 1. The roles of minor H antigens and endotoxin. *Blood* (1996). doi:10.1182/blood.v88.8.3230.bloodjournal8883230
- Duffner, U. A. *et al.* Host Dendritic Cells Alone Are Sufficient to Initiate Acute Graft-versus-Host Disease. *J. Immunol.* (2004). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7393
- 128. Matte, C. C. *et al.* Donor APCs are required for maximal GVHD but not for GVL. *Nat. Med.* (2004). doi:10.1038/nm1089
- 129. Wysocki, C. A., Panoskaltsis-Mortari, A., Blazar, B. R. & Serody, J. S. Leukocyte migration and graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2005).
 doi:10.1182/blood-2004-12-4726
- Flynn, R. *et al.* Increased T follicular helper cells and germinal center B cells are required for cGVHD and bronchiolitis obliterans. *Blood* (2014). doi:10.1182/blood-2014-03-562231

- Shlomchik, W. D. *et al.* Prevention of graft versus host disease by inactivation of host antigen- presenting cells. *Science (80-.).* (1999). doi:10.1126/science.285.5426.412
- Markey, K. A. *et al.* Conventional dendritic cells are the critical donorAPC presenting alloantigen after experimental bone marrow transplantation.
 Blood (2009). doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-191833
- Ichiki, Y. *et al.* T cell immunity and graft-versus-host disease (GVHD).
 Autoimmunity Reviews (2006). doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2005.02.006
- 134. Collins, C., Tsui, F. W. L. & Shulman, M. J. Induction of the chemokine receptor CXCR3 on TCR-stimulated T cells: Dependence on the release from persistent TCR-triggering and requirement for IFN-γ stimulation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (2002). doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200206)32:6<1792::AID-IMMU1792>3.0.CO;2-0
- 135. Stiles, L. N., Hosking, M. P., Edwards, R. A., Strieter, R. M. & Lane, T. E. Differential roles for CXCR3 in CD4+ and CD8+ T cell trafficking following viral infection of the CNS. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (2006). doi:10.1002/eji.200535509
- 136. Trinchieri, G., Pflanz, S. & Kastelein, R. A. The IL-12 family of heterodimeric cytokines: New players in the regulation of T cell responses. *Immunity* (2003). doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00296-6
- 137. Gately, M. K. *et al.* Interleukin-12 antagonist activity of mouse interleukin12 p40 homodimer in vitro and in vivo. in *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* (1996). doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1996.tb52650.x

- 138. Gillessen, S. *et al.* Mouse interleukin-12 (IL-12) p40 homodimer: a potent IL-12 antagonist. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (1995). doi:10.1002/eji.1830250133
- 139. Pidala, J., Perez, L., Beato, F. & Anasetti, C. Ustekinumab demonstrates activity in glucocorticoid-refractory acute GVHD. *Bone Marrow Transplant.*47, 747 (2011).
- 140. Fuss, I. J. *et al.* Both IL-12p70 and IL-23 are synthesized during active Crohn's disease and are down-regulated by treatment with anti-IL-12 p40 monoclonal antibody. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* (2006). doi:10.1097/01.MIB.0000194183.92671.b6
- 141. Iwakura, Y. & Ishigame, H. The IL-23/IL-17 axis in inflammation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* (2006). doi:10.1172/JCI28508
- 142. Vom Berg, J. *et al.* Inhibition of IL-12/IL-23 signaling reduces Alzheimer's diseasea-like pathology and cognitive decline. *Nat. Med.* (2012). doi:10.1038/nm.2965
- 143. Wan, Y. *et al.* Dendritic Cell-Derived IL-12 Is Not Required for the Generation of Cytotoxic, IFN-γ-Secreting, CD8 + CTL In Vivo . *J. Immunol.* (2001). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.9.5027
- Ma, C. S. *et al.* Early commitment of nave human CD4+ T cells to the T follicular helper (FH) cell lineage is induced by IL-12. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* (2009). doi:10.1038/icb.2009.64
- 145. Okamoto, S. *et al.* Anti–IL-12/23 p40 Antibody Attenuates Experimental Chronic Graft-versus-Host Disease via Suppression of IFN-γ/IL-17– Producing Cells. *J. Immunol.* (2015). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400973

- 146. Okubo, T. *et al.* Administration of an IL-12-encoding DNA plasmid prevents the development of chronic graft-versus-host disease (GVHD). *J. Immunol.* (1999).
- 147. Dey, B. R. Interleukin-12 inhibits graft-versus-host disease through an Fasmediated mechanism associated with alterations in donor T-cell activation and expansion. *Blood.* (1998).
- Sandborn, W. J. *et al.* Ustekinumab induction and maintenance therapy in refractory Crohn's disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (2012). doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1203572
- Bastian, D., Wu, Y., Betts, B. C. & Yu, X. Z. The IL-12 cytokine and receptor family in graft-vs.-host disease. *Frontiers in Immunology* (2019). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.00988
- Pidala, J. *et al.* In vivo IL-12/IL-23p40 neutralization blocks Th1/Th17 response after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation.
 Haematologica (2018). doi:10.3324/haematol.2017.171199
- Awasthi, A. *et al.* Cutting Edge: IL-23 Receptor GFP Reporter Mice Reveal Distinct Populations of IL-17-Producing Cells. *J. Immunol.* (2009). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900732
- Wu, Y. *et al.* Essential Role of Interleukin-12/23p40 in the Development of Graft-versus-Host Disease in Mice. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.03.016
- 153. Li, H. *et al.* IL-23 promotes TCR-mediated negative selection of thymocytes through the upregulation of IL-23 receptor and RORγt. *Nat. Commun.*

(2014). doi:10.1038/ncomms5259

- 154. Dai, H. & Kyttaris, V. C. Interleukin-23 deficiency alters thymic selection in lupus-prone mice. *Lupus* (2019). doi:10.1177/0961203319854804
- 155. Ueno, H., Banchereau, J. & Vinuesa, C. G. Pathophysiology of T follicular helper cells in humans and mice. *Nature Immunology* (2015). doi:10.1038/ni.3054
- 156. Pfeifle, R. *et al.* Regulation of autoantibody activity by the IL-23-T H 17 axis determines the onset of autoimmune disease. *Nat. Immunol.* (2017). doi:10.1038/ni.3579
- Tugues, S. *et al.* Graft-versus-host disease, but not graft-versus-leukemia immunity, is mediated by GM-CSF-licensed myeloid cells. *Sci. Transl. Med.* (2018). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aat8410
- Steward-Tharp, S. M. *et al.* A mouse model of HIES reveals pro- And antiinflammatory functions of STAT3. *Blood* (2014). doi:10.1182/blood-2013-09-523167
- Teng, M. W. L. *et al.* IL-12 and IL-23 cytokines: From discovery to targeted therapies for immune-mediated inflammatory diseases. *Nature Medicine* (2015). doi:10.1038/nm.3895
- 160. Betts, B. C. *et al.* Janus kinase-2 inhibition induces durable tolerance to alloantigen by human dendritic cell-stimulated T cells yet preserves immunity to recall antigen. *Blood* (2011). doi:10.1182/blood-2011-06-363408
- 161. Spoerl, S. et al. Activity of therapeutic JAK 1/2 blockade in graft-versus-

host disease. Blood (2014). doi:10.1182/blood-2013-12-543736

- 162. Kennedy, G. A. *et al.* Addition of interleukin-6 inhibition with tocilizumab to standard graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis after allogeneic stem-cell transplantation: A phase 1/2 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2014). doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71017-4
- 163. Betts, B. C., St Angelo, E. T., Kennedy, M. & Young, J. W. Anti-IL6receptor-alpha (tocilizumab) does not inhibit human monocyte-derived dendritic cell maturation or alloreactive T-cell responses. *Blood* (2011). doi:10.1182/blood-2011-06-363390
- 164. Harrison, C. *et al.* JAK Inhibition with Ruxolitinib versus Best Available Therapy for Myelofibrosis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* (2012). doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1110556
- 165. Zeiser, R. *et al.* Ruxolitinib in corticosteroid-refractory graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: A multicenter survey. *Leukemia* (2015). doi:10.1038/leu.2015.212
- Carniti, C. *et al.* Pharmacologic inhibition of JAK1/JAK2 signaling reduces Experimental murine acute GVHD while preserving GVT effects. *Clin. Cancer Res.* (2015). doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2758
- 167. Choi, J. *et al.* Pharmacologic blockade of JAK1/JAK2 reduces GvHD and preserves the graft-versus-leukemia effect. *PLoS One* (2014). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109799
- 168. Choi, J. *et al.* IFNγR signaling mediates alloreactive T-cell trafficking and GVHD. *Blood* (2012). doi:10.1182/blood-2012-01-403196

- Parampalli Yajnanarayana, S. *et al.* JAK1/2 inhibition impairs T cell function in vitro and in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Br. J. Haematol.* (2015). doi:10.1111/bjh.13373
- Schönberg, K. *et al.* JAK inhibition impairs NK cell function in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Cancer Res.* (2015). doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3198
- Curran, S. A. *et al.* Human Dendritic Cells Mitigate NK-Cell Dysfunction Mediated by Nonselective JAK1/2 Blockade. *Cancer Immunol. Res.* (2017). doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v12i1.650
- Betts, B. C. *et al.* Targeting Aurora kinase A and JAK2 prevents GVHD while maintaining Treg and antitumor CTL function. *Sci. Transl. Med.* (2017). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aai8269
- 173. Pardanani, A. *et al.* Safety and efficacy of fedratinib in patients with primary or secondary myelofibrosis: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* (2015). doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.1590
- 174. Mesa, R. A. *et al.* Pacritinib versus best available therapy for the treatment of myelofibrosis irrespective of baseline cytopenias (PERSIST-1): an international, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Haematol.* (2017). doi:10.1016/S2352-3026(17)30027-3
- 175. Singer, J. W. *et al.* Comprehensive kinase profile of pacritinib, a nonmyelosuppressive janus kinase 2 inhibitor. *J. Exp. Pharmacol.* (2016). doi:10.2147/JEP.S110702
- 176. Issa, F. et al. Ex vivo-expanded human regulatory T cells prevent the

rejection of skin allografts in a humanized mouse model. *Transplantation* (2010). doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e3181ff8772

- 177. Bejarano, P. A. *et al.* The Pathology of Full-thickness Cadaver Skin Transplant for Large Abdominal Defects: A Proposed Grading System for Skin Allograft Acute Rejection. *Am. J. Surg. Pathol.* (2004). doi:10.1097/00000478-200405000-00016
- Dulude, G., Roy, D. C. & Perreault, C. The effect of graft-versus-host disease on T cell production and homeostasis. *J. Exp. Med.* (1999). doi:10.1084/jem.189.8.1329
- 179. Wadwa, M. et al. IL-10 downregulates CXCR3 expression on Th1 cells and interferes with their migration to intestinal inflammatory sites. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2016). doi:10.1038/mi.2015.132
- 180. Wang, C., Kang, S. G., Lee, J., Sun, Z. & Kim, C. H. The roles of CCR6 in migration of Th17 cells and regulation of effector T-cell balance in the gut. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2009). doi:10.1038/mi.2008.84
- 181. Melton, A. C. *et al.* Regulation of IL-17A Production Is Distinct from IL-17F in a Primary Human Cell Co-culture Model of T Cell-Mediated B Cell Activation. *PLoS One* (2013). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0058966
- 182. Reddy, P. *et al.* Pretreatment of donors with interleukin-18 attenuates acute graft-versus-host disease via STAT6 and preserves graft-versusleukemia effects. *Blood* (2003). doi:10.1182/blood-2002-08-2566
- 183. Messmann, J. J. *et al.* In vitro-generated MDSCs prevent murine GVHD by inducing type 2 T cells without disabling antitumor cytotoxicity. *Blood*

(2015). doi:10.1182/blood-2015-01-624163

- 184. Zhang, J. *et al.* ST2 blockade reduces sST2-producing T cells while maintaining protective mST2-expressing T cells during graft-versus-host disease. *Sci. Transl. Med.* (2015). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aab0166
- 185. Laurence, A. *et al.* STAT3 Transcription Factor Promotes Instability of nTreg Cells and Limits Generation of iTreg Cells during Acute Murine Graft-versus-Host Disease. *Immunity* (2012). doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.027
- Veldhoen, M., Hocking, R. J., Atkins, C. J., Locksley, R. M. & Stockinger,
 B. TGFβ in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* (2006).
 doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.01.001
- Yoon, J. H. *et al.* Phosphorylation status determines the opposing functions of Smad2/Smad3 as STAT3 cofactors in TH17 differentiation. *Nat. Commun.* (2015). doi:10.1038/ncomms8600
- 188. Hebel, K. *et al.* IL-1β and TGF-β Act Antagonistically in Induction and Differentially in Propagation of Human Proinflammatory Precursor CD4 + T Cells . *J. Immunol.* (2011). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003998
- Schmitt, N. *et al.* The cytokine TGF-β 2 co-opts signaling via STAT3STAT4 to promote the differentiation of human TFHcells. *Nat. Immunol.* (2014). doi:10.1038/ni.2947
- 190. Ghoreschi, K., Laurence, A. & O'Shea, J. J. Janus kinases in immune cell signaling. *Immunol. Rev.* (2009). doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00754.x

- 191. De Mooij, C. E. M., Netea, M. G., Van Der Velden, W. J. F. M. & Blijlevens,
 N. M. A. Targeting the interleukin-1 pathway in patients with hematological disorders. *Blood* (2017). doi:10.1182/blood-2016-12-754994
- 192. Curran, S. A., Romano, E., Kennedy, M. G., Hsu, K. C. & Young, J. W. Phenotypic and functional activation of hyporesponsive KIRnegNKG2Aneg human NK-cell precursors requires IL12p70 provided by Poly(I:C)-matured monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunol. Res.* (2014). doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0054-T
- Cua, D. J. *et al.* Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature* (2003).
 doi:10.1038/nature01355
- 194. Reich, K. *et al.* Tildrakizumab versus placebo or etanercept for chronic plaque psoriasis (reSURFACE 1 and reSURFACE 2): results from two randomised controlled, phase 3 trials. *Lancet* (2017). doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31279-5
- 195. Blauvelt, A. *et al.* Secukinumab demonstrates greater sustained improvements in daily activities and personal relationships than ustekinumab in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: 52week results from the CLEAR study. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatology Venereol.* (2017). doi:10.1111/jdv.14391
- 196. Russell, T. D. *et al.* IL-12 p40 homodimer-dependent macrophage chemotaxis and respiratory viral inflammation are mediated through IL-12 receptor beta 1. *J. Immunol.* (2003).

- 197. Heinzel, F. P., Hujer, A. M., Ahmed, F. N. & Rerko, R. M. In vivo production and function of IL-12 p40 homodimers. *J. Immunol.* (1997).
- 198. Piccotti, J. R., Chan, S. Y., Li, K., Eichwald, E. J. & Bishop, D. K. Differential effects of IL-12 receptor blockade with IL-12 p40 homodimer on the induction of CD4+ and CD8+ IFN-gamma-producing cells. *J Immunol* (1997).
- 199. Lexberg, M. H. *et al.* Th memory for interleukin-17 expression is stable in vivo. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (2008). doi:10.1002/eji.200838541
- Annunziato, F. *et al.* Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. *J. Exp. Med.* (2007). doi:10.1084/jem.20070663
- 201. Liu, Y. et al. The expression of Th17-associated cytokines in human acute graft-versus-host disease. Biology of blood and marrow transplantation : journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (2013). doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.06.013
- 202. Elmaagacli, A. H., Koldehoff, M., Landt, O. & Beelen, D. W. Relation of an interleukin-23 receptor gene polymorphism to graft-versus-host disease after hematopoietic-cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2008). doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1705980
- Chua, A., Presky, D. H. & Cubler, U. Cloning and characterization of a mouse IL-12 receptor-beta component. *J. Immunol.* (1995).
- 204. De Jong, R. *et al.* Severe mycobacterial and Salmonella infections in interleukin-12 receptor-deficient patients. *Science (80-.).* (1998).
 doi:10.1126/science.280.5368.1435

- 205. Altare, F. *et al.* Impairment of mycobacterial immunity in human interleukin12 receptor deficiency. *Science (80-.).* (1998).
 doi:10.1126/science.280.5368.1432
- 206. Losana, G. *et al.* Requirement for both IL-12 and IFN-γ signaling pathways in optimal IFN-γ production by human T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (2002). doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200203)32:3<693::AID-IMMU693>3.0.CO;2-Q
- 207. Fieschi, C. & Casanova, J. L. The role of interleukin-12 in human infectious diseases: Only a faint signature. *European Journal of Immunology* (2003).
 doi:10.1002/eji.200324038
- Takahashi, N. *et al.* Association of the IL12RB1 promoter polymorphisms with increased risk of atopic dermatitis and other allergic phenotypes. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* (2005). doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi347
- 209. Koch, M. A. *et al.* T-bet+Treg Cells Undergo Abortive Th1 Cell
 Differentiation due to Impaired Expression of IL-12 Receptor β2. *Immunity* (2012). doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.031
- 210. Ling, G. *et al.* IL-12 receptor 1β deficiency with features of autoimmunity and photosensitivity. *Autoimmunity* (2016).
 doi:10.3109/08916934.2015.1134513
- 211. Silver, J. S. & Hunter, C. A. gp130 at the nexus of inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* (2010). doi:10.1189/jlb.0410217
- Wolf, J., Rose-John, S. & Garbers, C. Interleukin-6 and its receptors: a highly regulated and dynamic system. *Cytokine* (2014).
 doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014.05.024

- Wang, X., Lupardus, P., LaPorte, S. L. & Garcia, K. C. Structural Biology of Shared Cytokine Receptors. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* (2009). doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090616
- 214. Bloch, Y. *et al.* Structural Activation of Pro-inflammatory Human Cytokine
 IL-23 by Cognate IL-23 Receptor Enables Recruitment of the Shared
 Receptor IL-12Rβ1. *Immunity* (2018). doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.12.008
- 215. Desmet, J. *et al.* Structural basis of IL-23 antagonism by an Alphabody protein scaffold. *Nat. Commun.* (2014). doi:10.1038/ncomms6237
- 216. Schröder, J. *et al.* Non-canonical interleukin 23 receptor complex assembly: P40 protein recruits interleukin 12 receptor β1 via site II and induces P19/interleukin 23 receptor interaction via site III. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2015). doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.617597
- 217. Sayago, C. *et al.* Deciphering Binding Interactions of IL-23R with HDX-MS: Mapping Protein and Macrocyclic Dodecapeptide Ligands. *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* (2018). doi:10.1021/acsmedchemlett.8b00255
- 218. Yoon, C. *et al.* Charged residues dominate a unique interlocking topography in the heterodimeric cytokine interleukin-12. *EMBO J.* (2000). doi:10.1093/emboj/19.14.3530
- Quiniou, C. *et al.* Specific targeting of the IL-23 receptor, using a novel small peptide noncompetitive antagonist, decreases the inflammatory response. *AJP Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* (2014).
 doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00540.2013
- 220. Betts, B. C. et al. Targeting JAK2 reduces GVHD and xenograft rejection

through regulation of T cell differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2018). doi:10.1073/pnas.1712452115